
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Description of document: Correspondence between the Department of State (DOS) 
Inspector General (OIG) and United States Agency for 
Global Media (USAGM), 2017 to 2021 

 
Requested date: 22-July-2021 
 
Release date: 22-May-2025 
 
Posted date: 09-June-2025 
 
Source of document: FOIA Officer 

Office of General Counsel 
Office of Inspector General 
U.S. Department of State 
1700 North Moore Street 
Suite 1400 
Arlington, VA 22209 
Fax: (202) 261-8579 
Email: FOIA@stateoig.gov 
FOIA.gov 

 
 
 
 
 
 
The governmentattic.org web site (“the site”) is a First Amendment free speech web site and is noncommercial 
and free to the public.  The site and materials made available on the site, such as this file, are for reference only.  
The governmentattic.org web site and its principals have made every effort to make this information as 
complete and as accurate as possible, however, there may be mistakes and omissions, both typographical and in 
content.  The governmentattic.org web site and its principals shall have neither liability nor responsibility to any 
person or entity with respect to any loss or damage caused, or alleged to have been caused, directly or 
indirectly, by the information provided on the governmentattic.org web site or in this file.  The public records 
published on the site were obtained from government agencies using proper legal channels.  Each document is 
identified as to the source.  Any concerns about the contents of the site should be directed to the agency 
originating the document in question.  GovernmentAttic.org is not responsible for the contents of documents 
published on the website. 

mailto:FOIA@stateoig.gov
https://www.foia.gov/agency-search.html?id=affca28f-78b8-4411-b76e-3ab88234d911&type=component


SENT VIA EMAIL 

UNCLASSIFIED 

Office of Inspector General 
United States Department of State 

May 22, 2025 

Subject: Final Response - Department of State Office of Inspector General Freedom of 

Information Act Request No. 2021-F-044 

This responds to your Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) request to the Department of 

State (DOS) Office of Inspector General (OIG), dated July 22, 2021, seeking, "A copy of all 

letter correspondence between the Inspector General of the Department of State and the 

US Agency for Global Media (formerly Broadcasting Board of Governors)." The time 

period for your request was between January 1, 2017, and July 22, 2021. 

Your request was acknowledged by this office on August 2, 2021. Your request was given 

the FOIA Case number: 2021-F-044. 

In response to your request, we conducted a search within DOS-OIG's front office and reporting 

offices. Based on that review, DOS-OIG is providing the following: 

9 pages are released in full; 

------12_ pages are released in part. 

OIG redacted from the enclosed documents, names and identifying information of third parties 

to protect the identities of these individuals. Absent a Privacy Act waiver, the release of such 

information concerning the third parties named in these records would result in an unwarranted 

invasion of personal privacy in violation of the Privacy Act. Information is also protected from 

disclosure pursuant to Exemptions 3 and 6 of the FOIA further discussed below. 



UNCLASSIFIED 

Exemption 3, 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(3) 

Exemption 3 protects "information specifically exempted from disclosure by [another] statute." 

5 U.S.C. § 552 (b)(3). In this instance, 41 U.S.C. § 4712(b)(3) exempts from disclosure information 

about individuals who have filed a complaint under the contractor and grantee whistleblower 

program. Accordingly, DOS-OIG is withholding identifying information about whistleblower 

complainants. 

Exemption 6, 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(6) 

Exemption 6 allows withholding of "personnel and medical files and similar files the disclosure of 

which would constitute a clearly unwarranted invasion of personal privacy." 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(6) 

(emphasis added). DOS-OIG is invoking Exemption 6 to protect the names of complainants 

and/or witnesses, third parties, and any information that could reasonably be expected to 

identify such individuals. 

Appeal 

You have the right to appeal this response. 1 Your appeal must be received within 90 calendar 

days of the date of this letter. Please address any appeal to: 

Office of the General Counsel 

Office of Inspector General 

U.S. Department of State 

1700 N. Moore Street 

Suite 1400 

Arlington, VA 22209 

Email: FOIAAppeals@stateoig.gov 

Both the envelope and letter of appeal should be clearly marked, "Freedom of Information 

Act/Privacy Act Appeal." Your appeal letter should also clearly identify DOS-OIG's response. 

Additional information on submitting an appeal is set forth in the DOS regulations at 22 C.F.R. § 

171.15. 

1 For your information, Congress excluded three discrete categories of law enforcement and national security records 
from the requirements of the FOIA. 5 U.S.C. 552(c) (2006 & Supp. IV 2010). This response is limited to those records 
that are subject to the requirements of the FOIA. This is a standard notification that is given to all our requesters and 
should not be taken as an indication that excluded records do, or do not, exist. 
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Assistance and Dispute Resolution Services 

For further assistance and to discuss any aspect of your request you may contact DOS-OIG's 

FOIA Public Liaison at: 

FOIA Officer 

Office of General Counsel 

Office of Inspector General 

U.S. Department of State 

1700 North Moore Street 

Suite 1400 

Arlington, VA 22209 

foia@stateoig.gov 

Additionally, you may contact the Office of Government Information Services (OGIS) at the 

National Archives and Records Administration to inquire about the FOIA mediation services they 

offer. The contact information for OGIS is as follows: Office of Government Information Services, 

National Archives and Records Administration, 8601 Adelphi Road-OGIS, College Park, Maryland 

20740-6001, e-mail at ogis@nara.gov; telephone at 202-741-5770; toll free at 1-877-684-6448; 

or facsimile at 202-741-5769. 

Sincerely, 

Gina Goldblatt 

Government Information Specialist 
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QIG Office of Inspector General 
U.S. Department of State• Broadcasting Board of Governors 

UNCLASSIFIED September 6, 2017 

TO: Kenneth Weinstein, Acting Board Chairman, BBG 

FROM: Steve A. Linick, Inspector General ,,// 

SUBJECT: Report of Investigation Pursuant to 41 U.S.C. § 4712 
OIG Whistleblower Case 2016-0038 �(_bj\3)4_1_ Q:s'.code § 

Please see the attached report of investigation of a whistleblower complaint filed under the 
program for enhancement of contractor protection from reprisal for disclosure of certain 
information (41 U.S.C. § 4712). As noted in the report, within 30 days after receiving an OIG 
report pursuant to Section 4712(b}, the Broadcasting Board of Governors (BBG) is required to 
determine whether there is a sufficient basis to conclude that the grantee subjected the 
complainant to a reprisal prohibited by Section 4712(a) and to issue an order denying relief or 
taking one or more of the remedial actions specified in Section 4712(c)(1 ). 

Please feel free to contact me at (202) 663- b)(Bl or your staff may contact Jeffrey McDermott at 
(202) 663�r b)(B) 

.__ ___________ __, 

cc: Ben Herman, General Counsel, RFE/RL 
b)(3):41 U.S. Code§ 
712; (b)(6) 

U.S. Department of State, Office of Inspector General, Washington, DC 20522-0308 
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QIG Office of Inspector General 
U.S. Department of State • Broadcasting Board of Governors 

UNCLASSIFIED 

MEMORANDUM 

FROM: 

TO: 

SUBJECT: 

OIG - Jennifer L. Costello, Assistant Inspector General 

OIG - Steve A. Linick, Inspector General 

Report of Investigation Pursuant to 41 U.S.C. § 4712 
OIG Whistleblower Case 2016-0038 b)(3)41 us Code§ 

712: (b)(6) 

September 6, 2017 

The Office of Inspector General (OIG) is required to investigate complaints filed by employees of 
contractors, subcontractors, grantees, or personal services contractors who provide credible 
information alleging that they were subject to reprisal for whistleblowing activity.1 Upon 
completion of the investigation, OIG is required to submit a report of the findings of its 
investigation to the complainant, the contractor or grantee concerned, and the head of the 
agency. Not later than 30 days after receiving the report of OIG's findings, the head of the 
agency concerned is required to determine whether there is a sufficient basis to conclude that 
the contractor or grantee subjected the complainant to a reprisal prohibited by law and to issue 
an order denying relief or taking one or more of the remedial actions specified in the law.2 

As described below, OIG received a complaint from bi\�:i�)(�r Code§ an employee of a grantee of 
the Broadcasting Board of Governors (BBG), alleging that he was terminated from his position 
after having made a protected whistleblower disclosure. OIG's investigation found that j(�l(3 )I 
b)(3)41 made a protected disclosure, but his employer showed by clear and convincing 

r I c r .... "',.. � 

evidence that it would have taken the same action against (b)(3)41 u.s. bsent his disclosure. 
r.nrlP S 471?· 

Allegation 

On September 21, 2016, ���it\�i�: filed a complaint with OIG under Section 4712 alleging that 
he was terminated from his position as a journalist with Radio Free Europe/Radio Liberty's 
(RFE/Rl) Tajik Service in retaliation for participating in a series of internal investigations 
regarding the Director of the Tajik Service. Shortly after the investigations concluded, the RFE/Rl 
announced a restructuring of the Tajik Service, and bl�2!\�;;. was not selected for continued 
employment. b)(3)41 us. alleges that the restructuring was a pretext for removing him. 

ode§ 4712; 

1 41 U.S.C. § 4712. The original act was enacted on January 2, 2013, and applied to employees of contractors, 
subcontractors, and grantees. The act was amended on December 16, 2016, to include personal services contractors. 
2 41 U.S.C. § 4712(c)(1). 

U.S. Department of State, Office of Inspector General, Washington, D.C. 20522-0308 

Page 2 of 7 

t J 

I _ _ J 

l J 

- ~ L ~· _J 



UNCLASSIFIED 

OIG reviewed the complaint and determined that it contained sufficient details to allege a 
violation of the prohibition against retaliation for engaging in a protected activity. Consequently, 
OJG initiated an investigation of the allegations. 

Background 

[

b )(3) 41 U S Code § 4712, lb )(6) 

In January 2016, RFE/RL's General Counsel began an internal investigation of the Director of the 
Tajik Service after receiving allegations from the OJG hotline regarding her objectivity, favoritism 
toward employees from her region of Tajikistan, and potential conflicts of interest As part of the 
investigation, the General Counsel interviewed several employees of the Tajik Service, including 
�2S32!1,�;� lwho presented information that he believed supported the allegations that 
triggered the investigation. The General Counsel conducted another, narrower investigation of 
the Tajik Service in May 2016, in which K�l(3l�1.�:� I also participated. During and after these 
investigations, K�l(3)�1-�:� !also independently reached out to the General Counsel to voice 
other concerns with the Director and with the Tajik Service generally. 

On June 13, 2016, RFE/RL announced that the Tajik Service would undergo a restructuring. As 
part of the restructuring, all employees of the Tajik Service were required to participate in a 
video editing test and interview with the selection committee responsible for making staffing 
decisions as part of the restructuring process.3 

bl�f�\�i�i code ecame concerned that Tajik Service management wished to fire him and that the 
restructuring would be used as a pretext to do sol�2S3t!1,�;�- �ontacted RFE/RL's General 
Counsel and then-Director of Human Resources several times during and after the restructuring, 
expressing concerns about retaliation for his participation in the investigations earlier that year.4 
bl�2!\�;;: also raised these concerns several times to the President of RFE/RL via email. On 

August 15, 2016, RFE/RL management notified bl�2:!\�;;· that he had not been selected for 
continued employment. l(b )(3)41 u .s. !employment was ultimately terminated on August 28, 
2016. 

Standard for AJleging a Claim of Reprisal 

As an employee of a BBG grantee, ���i114�i�: is entitled to file a complaint under Section 4712. 
OIG initially reviewed his complaint to determine whether (1) he made a protected disclosure, (2) 

3 Members of the selection committee included the Tajik Service Director, the RFE/RL Regional Manager for Central 
Asia, RFE/RL's Human Resources Manager, and RFE/RL's Director of TV and Video Production. The then-Director of 
Human Resources attended the selection committee meeting and recorded notes of the decisions. 
4 l(b )(3) 41 u s Ia1s0 contacted OIG on June 26, 2016, to voice these co nee ms. 
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his employer took an action against him that could be an act of reprisa l, and (3) his complaint 
was filed within 3 years of the alleged reprisal .  

Protected Disclosure 

The information provided b (b)(3l4 1  us to RFE/RL's General Counsel during the internal r.orlf' 6 471 7· 
investigations qualifies as  a protecte 1sclosure under Section 471 2  because it was made to an 
officia l with the responsibility to investigate, discover or address misconduct and al leged 
improper activity and involved information that ���1 !14�1� easonably believed was evidence 
of an abuse of authority relating to a Federal contract or grant. 

Alleged Retaliation 

The law defines reprisal as being "discharged, demoted, or otherwise discriminated against" as a 
result of a protected disclosure.5 In this case, RFE/RL terminated bb�i �\�iI on August 28, 2016. 

Timely Complaint 

b��!�1,�;�; Code filed his complaint on September 2 1 ,  201 6, which is within the three-year statute of 
limitations from the date of the alleged reprisal.6 

Burdens of Proof 

Under 41 U.S.C. § 4712(c)(6), the legal burdens of proof specified in 5 U.S.C. § 1221 (e) shall be 
controlling for the purposes of any investigation conducted by an Inspector General. Under 5 
U.S.C. § 1221 (e), an employee must present evidence that he or she made a protected 
disclosure, which was a contributing factor in a personnel action taken against him or her. The 
employee may demonstrate that the disclosure was a contributing factor in the personnel action 
through circumstantial evidence, such as evidence that (a) the official taking the personnel 
action knew of the disclosure and (b) the personnel action occurred within a period of time such 
that a reasonable person could conclude that the disclosure was a contributing factor in the 
personnel action. 

Once the employee has met this burden, the burden of proof shifts to the employer, which must 
present clear and convincing evidence that it would have taken the same personnel action in the 
absence of such disclosure.7 In Carr v. Social Security Administration, the court adopted the 
fol lowing test: 

5 41 U.S.C. § 471i(a}(1). 
6 41 U.S.C. § 4712(b)(4). 
7 Ellison v. Merit Sys. Protection Bd, 7 F.3d 1031 ,  1034 (Fed. Cir. 1 993). 
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[W]hen determining whether an agency has shown by clear and 
convincing evidence that it would have taken the same personnel 
action in the absence of whistleblowing, the following factors 
[should be considered]: the strength of the agency's evidence in 
support of its personnel action; the existence. and strength of any 
motive to retaliate on the part of the agency officials who were 
involved i n  the decision; and any evidence that the agency takes 
s imilar actions against employees who are not whistleblowers but 
who are otherwise similarly situated.8 

The courts have defined clear and convincing evidence as the degree of proof which produces in 
the mind of the trier of fact an abiding conviction that the truth of a factual contention is highly 
probable.9 However, an employer does not need to prove each of the factors by clear and 
convincing evidence. Rather, the three factors will be weighed together to determine whether as 
a whole the evidence is clear and convincing, and a strong showing on one factor may be 
sufficient.1 0 

b)(3)41 U S  

h�i�� 
§ 4712; resented evidence that his protected disclosure was a contributing factor in the 

personnel action taken against him by demonstrating that he had raised concerns about the 
Director of the Tajik Service with the General Counsel of RFE/RW�!(�!�1. �;�: !also presented 
evidence that the Director of Human Resources, who attended the selection committee meeting 
and signed off on his termination, was aware of his disclosure. Therefore, �b�i �\�i�; met his 
burden of proof under 5 U.S.C. § 1 221  (e), and the burden shifted to RFE/RL to present clear and 
convincin evidence that it would have taken the same personnel action in the absence of Kb)(3): I 

���l !14�1�- isclosure. 
1 

Results of Investigation 

OIG reviewed emails and other records provided by RFE/RL and ���l !\�;� o determine the 
basis for the decision to terminate Kb�(.?1�1,c�;:; Codelemployment. OIG also interviewed b�(;r�1,�i�i Code 
and several relevant fact witnesses from RFE/RL. RFE/Rl provided evidence showing both that its 
management planned on transforming the Tajik Service from radio-based content to video and 
television well before Kb�(.?]�_1,L�;:: Code lirst protected disclosure and that it terminated !(b)(3):41 u .s. 
based on his poor performance. in the video editing test and interview process. 

In August 201 5, six months prior to �!(�!�1.�;� Is first disclosure, the Tajik Service Director's 
performance review contained a goal to urestructure Tajik Service both in Dushanbe and in 

8 1 8S F.3d 1318, 1 323 (Fed. Cir. 1 999) (citing Geyer v. Dep't of Justice, 7 M.S.P.R. 682, 688, aff d, 1 1 6  F.3d 1497 (Fed. 
Cir. 1997)). 
9 Road & Highway Builders v. U.S., 702 F.3d 1 365, 1 368 (Fed. Cir. 201 2). 
10 Lucchetti v. Dep't oflnterior, 201 7  MSPB LEXIS 743 (Feb 1 5, 201 7) (citing Phillips v. Dep't of Transportation, 1 1 3 
M.S.P.R. 73, 77 (2010)). 
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Prague with the objective: cut back from radio and put saved resources in video and TV and web 
production .. . " In interviews with OIG, several RFE/RL employees stated that these restructuring 
efforts fit within a broader effort to transition from producing radio content to television and 
video content. They noted particularly that there is an increasing demand for video content, 
particularly through social media. The Regional Director for Central Asia told OIG that the Tajik 
Service restructuring had first been proposed in 2013. 

As part of the restructuring, employees who were interested in retaining employment in the 
Tajik Service were required to apply for new positions. The application process included 
completing a video editing exercise and interviewing with the selection committee. All 
applicants were given the same video editing test, but because of the favoritism allegations 
raised against the Director, RFE/RL's General Counsel insisted that the test employ blind grading. 
In a June 13, 2016, email to the selection committee, he stated that "for legal reasons it is 
imperative that these tests be graded blindly-in other words, the graders cannot know the 
jdentjty of the person whose test they are grading [emphasis in original]. Please make sure that 
the testing process is implemented in a way that preserves blind grading." 

RFE/Rl produced credible and well-documented evidence that it would have terminated m(3) I 
���i 114�i�: egardless of his disclosure, based on his test score and his interview. Fourteen 

emp oyees took the test, and fE)(3) � 1 - � :� I received the lowe • re. RFE/RL provided 
OIG • h h I . I' f (b)(3):4 1 u .s • • h" h wit t e se ectIon pane s contemporaneous notes rom code § 4712; Interv1ew, w 1c 
confirm that the panel believed he was not a good fit for the position being discussed for 
various reasons, including his lack of vision for the Tajik Service • • • terest in 
collaboration. The selection committee members told OIG that ���i �14�i�; as a hard-working 
person but that they had concerns about his inability to adapt to the new media platform, 
potential bias in his reporting, and his disinterest in working on a team. 

In addition, RFE/Rl provided evidence that ���i:1\�iI: had a history of disciplinary issues that 
contributed to his termination. His personnel file demonstrates that he was suspended for one 
month without pay in 201 5  for publishing a graphically violent video on the Tajik Service website 
and allowing inappropriate comments about the video to remain.��S3t!1, �;� �as also 
disciplined in 2014 for raising his voice toward the Director in a meeting in which the entire Tajik 
Service staff was present. 

Regarding motive to retaliate, the Director of the Tajik Service had an obvious motive to 
retaliate against ���1 !1,1�/� if she knew of his participation in the internal investigations. 
However, the Director told OIG that she was not aware of bb�i �\�i�; participation, and OIG 
found no evidence to contradict this assertion. The Director o uman esources, who attended 
the selection committee meeting and signed off on ir!(�! � 1. �;� ! termination, was aware of his 
participation in the investigations, but she had little motive to retaliate because she was not the 
focus of the investigations. 
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Finally, with regard to treatment of other employees who were not whistleblowers, the General 
Counsel told OIG there were eight employees who reapplied for their positions during the 
reorganization. Six of these employees participated in the internal investigation, and two did 
not. One of the two employees who did not participate was not retained by RFE/RL, and four of 
the six employees who did participate retained their positions. Thus, there is no evidence that 
whistleblowing activity correlated with retention decisions. In addition, the fact that RFE/RL used 
blind grading for the video editing tests, which all Tajik Service employees were required to take, 
significantly diminished the possibility of disparate treatment. 

Conclusion 

b��l !1,1t� made a protected disclosure by participating in the internal investigations regarding 
the Director of the Tajik Service. Shortly thereafter, RFE/RL terminated his employment. Because 
b)(3)4 1 u s  met his burden under Section 4712, RFE/RL must provide clear and convincing 
ev�

p 
e�ce at it would have taken the same action in the absence of his disclosure. 

RFE/RL .d d I d . • .d h . Id h . d (b)(3)4 1 u s  prov1 e c ear an convincing ev1 ence t at 1t wou ave terminate r:nrlf' s 471 ? 
regardless of his disclosure. RFE/RL decided upon a restructuring of the Tajik Service prior to Kb_)(3): I 

l(b)(3)4 1 u s  !disclosure and employed a video editing test with blind grading to rate its employees 
who applied for positions in the reorganized service. l�!(�t� 1. �;� lscored poorly on the test, and 
members of the interview panel raised concerns regarding his vision for the organization and his 
lack of collaboration. ���l:!1

4�1�: also had a history of well-documented instances of 
misconduct. 

Although there is some evidence of a possible motive to retaliate against ���l !\�i� he 
strength of the evidence presented by RFE/RL, as well as the fact that other individuals who 

..,,...,...,,,,.,....,..,,....,..,....,,,.......,,..---,-.,,..., made similar disclosures were retained by the Tajik Service, supports a finding that �bJP}��"�;5 Code § 
termination was unrelated to his protected disclosure. Therefore, based on the evidence 
presented, OIG concludes that RFE/RL did not commit retal iation as prohibited by 41 U.S.C. 
§ 4712. 

Should you or your staff require it, OIG can share any documentation and evidence from this 
investigation. My point of contact is Jeffrey McDermott, Whistleblower Protection Ombudsman, 

l(b)(6) I 
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QIG Office of Inspector Genera l 
U.S. Department of State • Broadcasting Board of Governors 

UNCLASSIFIED March 1, 2018 

TO: Kenneth Weinstein, Chairman of the Board, BBG 

FROM: Steve A. Unick, Inspector General .,,,/{__ 

SUBJECT: Report of Investigation Pursuant to 41 U.S.C. § 4712 
OIG Whistleblower Case 201 7-0050 b)(3) 4 1  u s Code § 

7 1 ?· /h\/R\ 

Please see the attached report of investigation of a whistleblower complaint filed under the 
program for enhancement of contractor protection from reprisal for disclosure of certain 
information (41 U.S.C. § 471 2). As noted in the report, within 30 days after receiving an OIG 
report pursuant to Section 4712(b), the Broadcasting Board of Governors (BBG) is required to 
determine whether there is a sufficient basis to conclude that the contractor subjected the 
complainant to a reprisal prohibited by Section 4712(a) and to issue an order denying relief or 
taking one or more of the remedial actions specified in Section 4712(c)(1 ). 

Please feel free to contact me at fbl(5l I or your staff may contact Jeffrey McDermott at 
r,;:(b:-;;)(;;-;6)-------------L _____ ...J--

---=-

--

cc: �b)(3)4 1 US Code § 47 1 2; I h\/R\ 

Ms. Natalie May, Chief Executive Officer, Chaise Management Group 

U.S. Department of State, Office of Inspector Genera l, 1 700 N. Moore Street, Arlington. VA 22209 
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QIG Office of Inspector General 
U.S. Department of State • Broadcasting Board of Governors 

March 1, 2018 
UNCLASSIFIED 

MEMORANDUM 

FROM: 

TO: 

OIG - Jeffrey D. McDermott, Acting Assistant Inspector General �vM 

OIG - Steve A. Unick, Inspector General 

SUBJECT: Report of Investigation Pursuant to 41 U.S.C. § 4712 
OIG Whistleblower Case 2017-0050 (bl(3l4 1  u .s. Code § 

4 712; (b)(6) 

The Office of Inspector General (OIG) is required to investigate complaints filed by employees of 
contractors, subcontractors, or grantees, or personal services contractors who provide credible 
information alleging that they were subject to reprisal for whistleblowing activity. 1 Upon 
completion of the investigation, OIG is required to submit a report of its findings to the 
complainant, the contractor or grantee concerned, and the head of the agency. Not less than 30 
days after receiving the report of OIG's findings, the head of the agency concerned is required 
to determine whether there is a sufficient basis to conclude that the contractor or grantee 
subjected the complainant to a reprisal prohibited by law and to issue an order denying relief or 
taking one or more of the remedial actions specified in the law.2 

As described below, OIG received a complaint fro (bJ\t;�"�t C
ode § former employee of a 

Broadcasting Board of Governors (BBG) contractor, alleging he was terminated from his position 
as a broadcast journalist at the Office of Cuba Broadcasting (OCB) after having made a 
protected whistleblower disclosure. OIG's investigation found that Kbl(3)41 us I made a 
protected disclosure under Section 4712 and that his employment was terminated. However, 
OIG concluded that his termination was solely prompted by OCB officials, rather than by a 
decision of the contractor, and thus he does not qualify for relief under the statute. 

Allegation 

On February 23, 2017, ���l !14�;� file·d a complaint with OIG under Section 4712 alleging that 
Chaise Management Group (C aise), a BBG contractor, terminated his position as an 
independent journalist at OCB in retaliation for criticizing BBG's h iring practices and raising 
allegations of prohibited personnel practices, such as narrowly tailoring job announcements to 
ensure that a specific person was hired. ���2 ! 1,

1 
�;� ubmitted his concerns in writing to the 

1 41 U.S.C. § 471 2. The origina l act was enacted on January 2, 2013, and appl ied to employees of contractors, 
subcontractors, and grantees. The act was amended on December 1 6, 2016, to include personal services contractors. 
2 41 U.S.C. § 471 2(c)(1 ). 

U.S. Department of State, Office of Inspector General, 1 700 N. Moore Street. Arlington, VA 22209 
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Office of Human Resources (HR) at BBG, on December 22, 2016, and a ain on Janua 12, 2017, 
after having received no response. On January 18, 2017, Chaise advis ���l !14�1�: hat his 
services at OCB were no longer needed and that his last day of employment would be January 
31 ,  2017. 

OIG reviewed the complaint and determined that it contained sufficient details to allege a 
violation of the prohibition against retaliation for engaging in a protected activity under Section 
4712. Consequently, OIG initiated an investigation of the allegations. 

Background 

l(b)(3)4 1  U S. Code §  47 12 ;  (b)(6) 
Chaise is a contractor pr9vidin staffing for programs of the BBG, including OCB. Prior to his 
employment with Chaise, b!�t! 1,�;�· had a personal services contract directly with BBG. During 
the fourth quarter of 2016, BBG transitioned away from individual persona I service contracts and 
instead contracted with Chaise to provide recruiting and staffing services. 

In October 2016, b��l !1,1�/� pplied to a vacancy announcement for position at OCB at the 
GS- 15 level. In December 2016J� )(3) � 1 . � :� I learned that OCB had decided not to fi II the 
position. Shortly thereafter, OCB posted a new vacancy announcement with an amended 
position description at a GS-14 level. l(b)(3) 4 1 us I bel ieved that the changes to the 
announcement suggested that the new announcement was targeted toward a specific candidate 
who was friendly with the then-Director at OCB. 

b)(3)4 1 U S  Code 
. . . I I . 1 . b 47 1 2; (b)(6) ent an Imt1a etter to a BBG HR specIa 1st on Decem er 22, 2016, inquiring about 

e cance e position and the modified vacancy announcement; he also included his concerns 
regarding potential prohibited personnel practices. Because he received no response, he re-sent 
a copy of the same letter to the Director of HR, in January 2017. On January 12, 2017, 1���

3):4 1 

1�!��!� 1. �;� �poke with the HR  specialist regarding his complaints about BBG's hiring practices and 
provided other examples of hiring that he believed were improper. On January 18, 2017, Chaise 
notified I� )(3) � 1 . � :�- �hat his employment with Chaise would be terminated on January 31, 2017. 

Standard for Alleging a Claim of Reprisal 

As an employee of a BBG contractor, �b)(3)4 1 u .s. l is entitled to file a complaint under Section 
471.2. OIG initially reviewed his complaint to determine whether (1) he made a protected 
disclosure, (2) his employer took an action against him that could be an act of reprisal, and (3) 
his complaint was filed within 3 years of the alleged reprisal. 
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UNCLASSIFIED 

Protected Disdosure 

It is a prohibited personnel practice for an agency official to ngive an unauthorized advantage in 
order to improve or injure the employment prospects of any person.n3 {?2S32 !1A �i�- �aised 
concerns with BBG officials about improper hiring that he reasonably believed were an abuse of 
authority or a violation of law, both of which would qualify as a protected disclosure under 
Section 4712.4 

AJleged Retaliation 

The law defines reprisal as being "discharged, demoted, or otherwise discriminated againse as a 
result of a protected disclosure.5 In this case, on January 18, 2017, (b)(3)41 u s  !was notified by 
Chaise that his contract was being terminated because his services at OCB were no longer 
required. 

Timely Complaint 

b)(3)41 U S 
.. o�� § 471 2; filed his complaint with OIG on February 23, 2017, which is within the three-year 

statute of limitations from the date of the alleged reprisal.6. 

Results of Investigation 

OIG reviewed documents provided by Chaise and BBG to determine the basis for the decision to 
terminate !(b)(3):41 u.s_ � employment. The documents do not state a reason for or explain the 
decision to terminate the contract; rather, they provide instructions to Chaise on logistical 
details regarding the termination. 

OIG also interviewed OCB and BBG officials regarding the decision. OIG was unable to interview 
the primary decision-maker, as he had retired from OCB and OIG could not locate him. However, 
OCB's Chief of Staff and Director of Administration both said that as a general matter, OCB 
regularly reviews its staffing needs. The Director of Administration told OIG that based on the 
recommendation of the Division Chief and concurrence by senior management, he contacted 
Chaise and directed them to terminate �b�i �14�iI: OCB's Director of Administration is 
responsible for contracting and financial management for OCB and had the authority to 
mandate this action. 

According to OCB officials, staffing decisions are made by Division Chiefs and discussed at 
weekly senior staff meetings: According to those officials, OCB conducted a routine review of 

3 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(6). 
• 41 U.S.C. § 4712(a)(1). 
s 41 U.S.C. § 4712(a)(1). 
6 41 U.S.C. § 4712(b)(4). 
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UNCLASSIFIED 

staffing needs in the fal l of 201 6  and determined that the services of b��2 ! 1,1. �;� and another 
contractor were no longer needed. In correspondence to OIG, Chaise also noted that OCB had 
explained to Chaise that the agency no longer had funding to support the contractors' positions. 

Conclusion 

The close proximity of fbl(3)4 1 us � disclosure to the elimination of his position created an 
appearance that the termination was retal iatory in nature. As previously discussed, the 
documents produced to OIG do not explicitly support the BBG's ex lanation that a lack of 
funding was the reason for his contract termination. Nonetheless, b��i:�1

4�A is not entitled to 
relief under Section 4712 because the evidence gathered by OIG demonstrates that the al leged 
retaliatory actions were taken solely by OCB officials, rather than by Chaise. Under the statute 
and the only judicial decision to have construed a comparable provision, employees who faced 
adverse personnel actions that are ordered by an authorized agency official do not quality for 
relief.7 In this case, an authorized agency official, BBG's Director of Administration, directed 
Chaise to terminate �!��!� 1. �;� land Chaise followed such direction. Therefore, �!��!�1 . �;�: 
does not qualify for relief under Section 4712. 

7 41 U.S.C. § 4712(a)(3)(B) ("a reprisal ... is prohibited even if it is undertaken at the request of an executive branch 
official, unless the request takes the fonn of a non-discretionary directive and is within the authority of the executive 
branch officia l making the request"); Manion v. Nitelines Kuhana JV LlC. No: 7:12-CV-247-BO, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 
62663 (E.D.N.C May 6, 2014} (finding that a contractor employee does not qualify for relief under the Defense 
Contractor Whistleblower Protection Act, the statute upon which the pilot program was modeled, if the contractor 
merely effectuates a directive from the agency to terminate the contractor employee). 
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Office of Inspector General 
United States Department of State 

May 9, 2019 

TO: 

FROM :  

John  F .  Lansing, Ch ief Executive Officer, U.S. Agency for G lobal Media 

Steve A. Un ick, Inspector Genera l  H /� 
SUBJ ECT: 

Please see the attached report of investigation of a whistle blower complaint fi led under the program for 
enhancement of contractor protection from reprisa l for disclosure of certain information (41 U.S.C. § 

4712) .  As noted in the report, within 30 days after receiving an  OIG report pursuant to Section 4712(b), 
the U .S .  Agency for Global Media is required to determine whether there is a sufficient basis to conclude 
that the contractor subjected the compla inant to a reprisal proh ibited by Section 4712(a) and to issue an 
order denying rel ief or taking one or more of the remedial actions specified in  Section 4712(c) (l) .  

Please feel free to contact me at (b)(6) 

(b)(6) 

�b)(3)41 U .S. Code§ 4712; 
I CC: '-"�h-"-'\IR...._1 _____ _._ 

or your staff may contact Jeffrey McDermott at (571) 

Ms. Anne Noble, Genera l  Counsel, Middle East Broadcasting Networks 

M r. Fermaint Rios, Procurement Executive, U.S. Agency for Global Media 

U.S. Department of State, Office of Inspector General, 1 700 N. Moore Street, Arlington, VA 22209 
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UNCLASS IF IED 

Office of Inspector General 
United States Department of State 

May 9, 2019 

� 
FROM :  O IG  - Jeffrey D .  McDermott, Assistant Inspector Generai-

L___J 

TO : 

SUBJECT: 

OIG - Steve A. Un ick, I nspector Genera l  

Report o f  Investigation Pursuant t o  41  U .S .C. § 47 12 
OIG Whistleb lower Case 2018-0058 b)(3)4 1 U S Code § 

7 1 ?  /h\/R\ 

The Office of I nspector Genera l  {OIG) is required to investigate compla ints filed by employees of 
contractors, subcontractors, grantees, or subgrantees or filed by persona l services contractors who 
p rovide credible information a l leging that they were subject to reprisa l for whistleblowing activity.1 

Upon completion of the investigation, O IG  is requ ired to submit a report of its find ings to the 
compla i nant, the contractor or grantee concerned, a nd the head of the agency. Not less than 30 days 
after receiving the report of OIG's find ings, the head of the agency concerned is required to determine 
whether there is a sufficient basis to conclude that the contractor or grantee subjected the compla inant 
to a reprisal proh ibited by law and to issue an order denying re l ief or tak ing one or more of the remedia l 
actions specified i n  the law. 2 

As described below, OIG received a complaint from [b��1�1 .. � -�: Code l a  former employee of a U .S .  Agency 
for G lobal Media (USAG M) grantee, a l leging that he was suspended and then terminated from his 
position after having made a protected whistleblower d isc losure. OIG's i nvestigation found that Mr. 
Kb)(3)41  �id make a protected d isclosure but that his employer, M iddle East Broadcasting Networks 
(MBN), provided clear and convincing evidence that it would have taken the same personnel action 
absentKb)(3)41  u .s . !d isclosure .  

Allegation 

On May 14, 2018, !(b)(3):41 u .s I filed a compla int with OIG under Sect ion 4712 of Title 41 of the U.S. Code, 
a l leging that he was suspended and then later terminated from his po • • i n  reta l iation for 

• . 
• 

d . h . f . I . I b)(3l41 u s d h h .  raising various concerns regar mg 1s armer supervisor. n part 1cu a r, ode § 471 2; asserte t at 1 s  
supervisor had abused her a uthority by d i rect ing ind ivid ua ls she supervise o e p her complete 
coursework for a master's degree she was seek ingJb)(3)41 u s  ltated that she d i rected them to assist 
her during their regu lar work time. b��i � 14�i�; ontended that, after he disclosed this purported 

I 41 LJ.5.(. § 4712. 
2 41 U .S.C. § 4712(c ) (l ) .  

l

(b )(3) 41 U S Code § 4 7 1 2; (b)(6) 

a p rotected disclosure pursuant to 41 U .S.C. § 4 712.  This report similarly does not address any potentia l ly related issues, which 
would likewise be outside of OIG's authority to investigate claims of retaliation under 41 U .S.C. § 4712. 
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misconduct to his management and others within MBN, h is employment was suspended and then 
terminated in reta liation. 

OJG reviewed�2�2 !1, �;� !complaint and determined that it contained sufficient details to a llege a 
violation of the prohibition against retaliation for engaging in a protected activity. Consequently, O IG 
initiated an investigation of his allegations. 

Background 

b)(3)4 1 U S Code §  4 7 1 2; (b)(6) 

��(�! �1. �;� I stated that he worked with h is supervisor throughout his tenure, including in Beirut. While 
there, she was in an administrative and budgeting role. When she came to the Un ited States in 
September 2014, she was promoted to executive producer and thus becamekblf3l4 1 us I supervisor. 
She promoted �2�2 !1, �;� o the role of senior development producer in September 2016.l(b)(3)4 1 us 
told OIG that he un erstood, in this role, he would be responsible for developing new shows, helping to 
develop socia l media content, and coordinatin with the Social Media Department. However, at the 
same time, his supervisor assigned b2�l ! 1

,i_ 
� ;� o produce a documentary a bout Arab satirists who use 

humor to diminish the influence of ISIS (hereinafter the "Satire Show") .  

Approximately eight months after he took on this role, �2�2!1,�;� brought to senior management's 
attention alleged misconduct by his supervisor. In a series of May 2017 emails and meetings with MBN's 
Human Resources (HR) Director, Vice President for Administration, and General Counsel, l(b)(3)4 1 us I 
contended that his supervisor had assigned employees she supervised to complete coursework for a 
master's degree program on her behalf. b)(3) 4 1  us continued to raise these concerns throughout the 

...... nr. � .A 7 1 '1 ·  

remainder of h is tenure. 

In June 2017, b��i �1
4�i�: was suspended from his employment with MBN for 1 week. According to 

MBN, it suspended his employment because he fa iled to make a series of editorial changes to the "Satire 
Show" as directed by his supervisor. Then, in August 2017, MBN terminated fb)(3)4 1 us !employment. 
MBN stated that it did so in connection with a broader restructuring of the Current Affairs Department 
in which the employment of several other individuals was also terminated. 

Standard for Alleging a Claim of Reprisal 

As an employee of a USAGM grantee, b2�l ! 1
,i_ �;� is entitled to file a complaint under 41 U.S.C. § 4712. 

OlG initially reviewed his complaint to determine whether (1) he made a protected disclosure, (2) his 
employer took an action against him that could be an act of reprisal, and (3) his complaint was filed 
within three years of the a lleged reprisa l. 

Protected Disclosure 

Under 41 U.S.C. § 4712(a), information qualifies as a protected disclosure if it is made to, among other 
individuals and entities, a management official of the contractor or grantee or an employee with the 
responsibility to investigate, discover, or address misconduct. The protected disclosure must constitute 

2 
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information that the employee reasonably believes is evidence of gross mismanagement of a Federal 
contract or grant, a gross waste of Federal funds, an abuse of authority relating to a Federal contract or 
grant, a substantial and specific danger to public health or safety, or a violation of law, rule, or 
regulation related to a Federal contract { including the competition for, or negotiation of, a contract) or 
grant. 

b)(3):41 US 
Based on the evidence that ode � 471 2: provided, OIG determined that h is statements to the HR 
Director, the Vice President for Administration, and the General Counsel qualified as protected 
disclosures because they were made to management officials of the grantee. In addition, his d isclosures 
detailed information he reasonably believed constituted an abuse of authority relating to a Federal 
grant, because requiring subordinates to assist in personal business would qualify as a misuse of a 
supervisory position and an abuse of authority.4 

Alleged Retaliation 

The law defines reprisa l as being "discharged, demoted, or otherwise discriminated against" as a result 
of a protected disclosure.5 In this case, MBN suspended and then terminated �!(�!�1 . �;�: lfrom his 

�---� employment on June 9, 2017 and August 23, 2017, respectively. Both events occurred after (b)(3):41 u .s 
r.nrlP f'. ,1. 71 ?· raised concerns regarding his supervisor's purported abuse of authority. 

Timeliness of Complaint 

f��l !\�i� 1 led his complaint on May 14, 2018, which is within the 3-year statute of limitations from 
the date of the alleged reprisal. 

Burden of Proof 

Under 41 u.s.c. § 4712(c)(6), the legal burdens of proof specified in 5 U.S.C. § 1221(e) are controlling for 
the purposes of any investigation conducted by an Inspector General. Under 5 U.S.C. § 1221(e), an  
employee must present evidence that he  or  she made a protected disclosure, which was a contributing 
factor in a personnel action taken against him or her. The employee may make this showing through 
direct or circumstantial evidence, such as evidence that (a) the official taking the personnel action knew 
of the disclosure and {b) the personnel action occurred within a period of time such that a reasonable 
person could conclude that the disclosure was a contributing factor in the personnel action. 

Once the employee has met this burden, the burden of proof shifts to the employer, which must present 
clear and convincing evidence that it would have taken the same personnel action in the absence of 
such disclosure.6 In Carr v. Social Security Administration, the court adopted the fol lowing test: 

[W]hen determining whether an agency has shown by clear and 
convincing evidence that it would have taken the same personnel action 
in the absence of whistleblowing, . . .  the following factors [should be 
considered]: the strength of the agency's evidence in support of its 

4 See, e.g., Singh v. U.S. Postal Service, 2016 MSPB LEXIS 5835 (Sept. 20, 2016). 
S 41 U.S.C. § 4712(a )(l). 
6 Carr v. Social Security Admln., 185 F.3d 1318, 1322 (Fed. Cir. 1999). 
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personnel action; the existence and strength of any motive to reta liate 
on the part of the agency officials who were involved in the decision; 
and any evidence that the agency takes similar actions against 
employees who are not whistleblowers but who are otherwise similarly 
situated.7 

The courts have defined clear and convincing evidence as the degree of proof "which produces in the 
mind of the trier of fact an abiding conviction that the truth of a factual contention is 'highly probable.'"8 

However, an employer does not need to prove each of the factors by clear and convincing evidence. 
Rather, the three factors will be weighed together to determine whether as a whole the evidence is 
clear and convincing, and a strong showing on one factor may be sufficient.9 

Complainant's Burden 

OIG obtained circumstantial evidence demonstrating that ���2 !1
,1�/�: protected disclosures were a 

contributing factor in the personnel actions taken against him; in particular, the officials taking the 
actions were aware of his disclosures, and the personnel actions took place shortly after his disclosures. 

(b)(3):41 U S  Code . . b)(3)·41 U S  s 47 1 ?  /h\/n\ then-supervisor and sen ior MBN management were aware of nri.,· is ni ?: concerns when 
they made the decision to suspend and then terminate his employment. On numerous occasions 
beginning May 11, 2017¥El(3):� 1 . � :� I expressed concerns about h is supervisor's practice of soliciting 
other MBN employees to assist her with her graduate coursework and projects. For example, in a May 
11, 2017, email to the HR Director, !�!(�t� 1 . �;� I wrote that his supervisor "abused her a uthority when 
she asked four employees who work with her to help her in her courses and the graduate project at her 
school ." According to MBN, from May 11, 2017, to June 1, 2017, the HR Director investigated M r. 
[%3l��rlf' 6 laims. MBN told OIG that the HR Director spoke with other employees who corroborated the 
a egat1ons. Following this investigation, senior MBN officials met with the supervisor, and she 
acknowledged that she had engaged one of these employees for services outside of work. 

MB N's HR Director, Vice P resident for Administration, and General Counsel then met with MBN's 
President and Vice President for Network News to discuss their findings. The officials decided, that as a 
result of her conduct, the supervisor would be required to participate in 6 months of mandatory 
management training. On June 2, 2017, fblf3l4 1 u .s. I was informed by MBN that his claims .had been 
investigated but he was given no information concerning whether or to what extent they were 
substantiated. According to MBN, during this meeting, he reiterated his concerns. He again raised these 
concerns in a June 30, 2017, letter to the General Counsel and in an  August 16 2017 meeting with the 
General Counsel and HR Director. Thus, MBN management was well-aware of b��2 !1

,1�;;·. concerns 
when it decided to suspend and then terminate his employment on June 9 and August 23, 2017, 
respectively. 

7 185 F.3d 1318, 1323 {Fed. Cir. 1999) (citing Geyer v. Dep't of Justice, 7 M.S.P .R. 682, 688, aff d, 116 F.3d 1497 (Fed. Cir. 1997)). 
8 Rood & Highway Builders v. U.S., 702 F.3d 1365, 1368 (Fed. Cir. 2012) (citing Am-Pro Protective Agency v. U .S., 281 F.3d 1234, 
1240 ( Fed. Cir. 2002)). 
9 Lucchetti v. Dep't of Interior, 2017 MSPB LEXIS 743 (Feb 15, 2017) (citing Phillips v. Dep't of Transportation, 113 M.S.P.R. 73, 77 
(2010)). 
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MBN first suspended and then terminated ���l !14�1� employment shortly after he raised concerns, 
which is evidence that the disclosure was a contri utmg factor in these actions. MBN asserted that, as 
described below, it suspended �2�t! 1, �.� employment on June 9 because he failed to foll�w his , 
supervisor's editorial d irections for the "Satire Show.'¥b)(3)41 u s  I however, denied that he had been 
insubordinate and told OIG that he believed this proffered basis was pretextual. According to him, 
although he had disagreed with the requested editorial changes, he had attempted to discuss them with 

told O IG that, instead of engaging him'on this topic, his supervisor cut him off 
during convers�a-r1"'"o"""ns�an=-=rrt..en sent email messages that made it incorrectly appear as though he had 
refused her requests. He agreed, however, that he. did not u ltimately make the requested changes. 

(b)(3)41 u s  I Id h h b , h h code !:l 471 2: so to OIG t at e elieved that MBN s assertion t at it ad terminated his employment 
as part of a broader restructuring was similarly pretextual. According to ���l:!\�;�: immediately 
following his termination, MBN began advertising for new positions with e same Job responsibilities 
and in the same department as his previous role. In addition, OIG found that MBN retained - albeit 
temporarily -another Development Producer who had reported to l(b)(3)41 u s_ code § 471 2; (b)(6) 
tenure. 

Given the evidence described above, OIG concludes that ��(�! �1. �;� presented sufficient evidence to 
demonstrate that his protected disclosures were a contributing factor in the decisions to suspend and 
then terminate his employment. He presented evidence sufficient to demonstrate that MBN took 
personnel actions against him, at least in part because he raised concerns about his supervisor's abuse 
of authority in asking subordinates to a id in her college coursework. As such, he met the burden of 
proof under 5 U.S.C. § 1221{e) by the required preponderance of the evidence, and the burden shifts to 
MBN to present clear and convincing evidence that it would have taken the same personnel action in 
the absence of fb)(3):41 u .s �isclosures. 

Contractor's Burden 

OIG found, however, that MBN presented clear and convincing evidence that it would have taken the 
same personnel actions against �_?)(3) � 1 . � :� I in the absence of his protected disclosures. The first factor 
that the courts use to weigh whether an employer/agency has met its burden is the strength of the 
evidence.10 In examining this factor, the Merit Systems Protection Board11 examines the evidence 
supporting the personnel action and whether there were "legitimate reasons" for the personnel 
action.12 

As stated above, MBN told OIG that it sus ended b)(3)41 u s  employment on June 9, 2017, because 
he had been insubordinate. Although �b�i � 14�1�; nisp�t

7

� ') t is characterization of his conduct, OIG 
found that the weight of the evidence'"salppt:rrnm-iVIBN's position. For example, a lthough l��(�t�1 . �;�- I 
believed that h is supervisor's requested changes were subject to negotiation, she did send him an email 
with clear instructions. He ultimately chose not to follow those instructions and never made the changes 
to the show. In addition, MBN's HR Director, Vice President for Administration, and General Counsel all 
to ld OIG that, during their June 9 meeting with him, �b�i 1 \�i�; as given repeated opportunities to 

1o Carr, 185 F.3d 1318, 1323. 
11 The Merit Systems Protection Board Interprets the Whistle blower Protection Act in cases of alleged retaliation against 
Federal employees. 5 u.s.c. § 122l(a), Those factors are incorporated by reference In the statute protecting contractors from 
retaliation. 41 U.S,C. § 4712(c)(6). 
12 Baker v. Dep't of Defense, 2016 MSPB LEXIS 4567, p. 30 (2016). 
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agree to the "Satire Show'' changes and was only suspended when he continually refused. Notably, the 
Genera I Counsel and HR Director told O IG that before the meeting, they had believed � �(�� � 1 , � ;� I wo u Id 
agree to make the changes and had not been prepared to suspend his employment during that meeting. 
They told DIG that they had paused the meeting in order to prepare the letter of suspension. Indeed, by 

Kb )(3)4 1 u s Code I own admission, the Vice President for Administration explicitly told him that he wo u Id be 
suspended if he fa iled to "do what [his supervisor] asked for." 

With respect to the termination of his employment, MBN's HR Director, Vice President for 
Administration, and General Counsel told OlG that it had taken this action as part of a broader 
restructuring of the Current Affa irs Department of which b)(3):41 u .s . had been a member. MBN 

,.,,.� ..... f:: A 7 1 'J · 

appointed a new president in July 2017, and his focus was on pro ucmg mo re news programs and fewer 
cultural programs. One of the goals of the restructuring was to align MBN with the new president's 
focus, and positions connected with cultural programming, such as b)(3):4 1 u.s. were eliminated . 

. nrlo I". 47 1 ?· 

OIG reviewed evidence that supported MBN's assertions. First, MBN produced documentary evidence 
demonstrating that, on or about the same day that ��(}!! 1. �;� I employment was terminated, it 
terminated the employment of seven other members of the Current Affairs Department. Although Mr. 

(b)(3) 4 1 maintained that some of these i ndividua ls had also ra ised concerns regarding !(b)(3):4 1 u .s . Code I 1 1  <:: C':nrlt> I". 
t en-supervisor, the HR Director denied that this was the case.13 MBN a lso produced other documents 
(such as organizational charts) demonstrating the existence of a broader restructuring plan at this time. 
The HR Director and General Counsel acknowledged that, at the timel�l(3) � 1 . � :� �m lo ment was 
terminated, MBN had retained some senior producer positions. They explained that �bl�f� 1,�i�i Code 

responsibilities were divided among these roles. They stated that �2�2 !1, �;; ad been made aware 
that his position was being eliminated and that he had been given the opportunity to apply for these 
positions but had not done so. While ���il

1
4�1� enied that he had been given this opportunity, he did 

indicate that he was aware at the time a ·  e e 1mination of certa in positions was being considered. 

Based on the totality of the evidence, OlG c',LLll���.......,MBN demonstrated that ���2:114�;�: conduct 
and a broader corporate restructuring, not ���l ! \ �i� rotected d isclosures, were the reasons for the 
personnel actions that he al leged were reta liatory. OIG therefore concludes that, with regard to the first 
Carr factor, the strength of the evidence supporting the personnel action and whether there were 
"legitimate reasons" for the personnel actions, MBN provided evidence that clearl and convincingly 
supports its reasoning for the personnel actions it took with respect to b !��!! 1. � ;� 

Regarding the second Carr factor-existence and strength of any motive to retaliate on the part of the 
individuals who were involved in the decision-there is some evidence of reta liatory motive. As stated 
above, !(b)(3) 4 1 u .s . 1supervisor was aware at the time of both his suspension and termination that he 
had ra ised concerns about her. Further, MBN's HR Director and General Counsel acknowledged that Mr. 

���2:11
4 �;; upervisor had provided input with respect to both of these decisions.14 They denied, however, 

t at s e was the ultimate decision-maker in either case. Their statements were supported by the fact 
that !&')(�!�1. �;� �upervisor was not present during the June 9 meeting at which it was determined 

!(b)(3)4 1 U S  ltold OIG that from approximately May 2017 to August 2017, he had disclosed to MBN's HR Director, Vice 
President for Administration, and General Counsel the identities of several other MBN employees who his supervisor had 
purportedly instructed to work on her graduate coursework. MBN did not terminate the employment of any of these 
individuals in August 2017, although it did terminate the employment of one of these individuals (his colleague on the "Satire 
ShowN ) in 2018 in con • another reorganization. 
14 MBN told OIG that J.l�3

)b
4

dde § supervisor referred him to HR for Insubordination, which led to the suspension, and that she 
prepared the inltlal re�"""l'l'T'll"lriT'proposal. 
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that his employment would be suspended and by the documentary evidence demonstrating that the 
termination of his employment was commensurate with a number of organizational changes and 
personnel reductions. 

Final ly, reg a rd ing the third Carr factor, there is su bstantia I evide nee that M BN took similar actions 
a ainst similarly-situated employees who are not whistleblowers. With respect to the suspension of Mr. 
1�)�

3)
r
4
�rl" g employment, MBN told OIG that one of I�!(�!�1 . �;�· !colleagues on the "Satire Show" had a lso 

initia l ly refused to fo l low editorial directions and would have a lso faced disciplinary action or suspension 
had he continued to do so. MBN's HR Director, Vice President for Administration, and General Counsel 
stated, however, that, un l ike (b)(3) 41 u .s. his individual agreed to make the requested changes after 

r.nrl<> g 1171 ?· 
they met with him. In addition, t e HR Director told O IG that the suspension fol lowed the discipline 
policy and was equivalent to discipline imposed on others at MBN for insubordination. 

Regarding l�!(�!�1. �;� !termination, as stated above, MBN terminated seven other employees in the 
Current Affairs Department on or about the same day as b)(3)4 1 u.s. While the evidence supported 

.nrlo g 117 1 ?· 
.b�@):J 1 .. � -�: Code ontention that a subordinate producer wit a s1m1 ar ro e was retained at this time, this 
m 1v1 ua s employment was also subsequently terminated in connection with further personnel 
changes in 2018. 

Conclusion 

���� !14�1� made a protected disclosure by communicating his supervisor's requests that subordinates 
complete personal tasks. Shortly thereafter, (b)(3):4 1  u .s. mployment was suspended and then 

rnnn � .A 7 i "J· 

terminated. Becausel�!\�!!1. �;� lmet his burden o s owing that the disclosure was a contributing 
factor in these personnel actions under Section 4712, the burden shifted to MBN to provide clear and 
convincing evidence that it would have taken the same action in the absence of this disclosure.  

MBN rovided clear and convincing evidence th.at it would have taken these actions with respect to Mr. 
CT

)
�
3)
��de absent h is protected disclosure. MBN told DIG that Kb)(3):4 1  u .s. I employment was suspended 

ecause he had refused to follow appropriate instructions from his supervisor and that his employment 
was terminated in connection with a corporate restructuring. OIG reviewed evidence that supported 
these statements. Accordingly, MBN met its burden, and based on the evidence presented� ......... -�� 

I d h h • ffi . .d d h MBN 1· d • b)(3):4 1  u.s. cone u es t at t ere was msu 1c1ent evI ence to emonstrate t at reta Iate agams ode § 471 2; 
as set forth in 41 U.S.C. § 4712. 
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UNCLASSIFIED 

Office of Inspector General 
Un ited States Department of State 

February 6, 2020 

TO: 

FROM:  

Grant Turner, Acting Chief Execu tive Officer, U .S. Agency for Global Media 

Steve A. Linick, Inspector Genera l � 

SU BJECT: Report of Investigation Pursuant  to 41 U .S.C. § 47 1 2  
OIG Whistleblower Case 20 1 9-0075 b)(3)41 u .s. code§ 

712: (b)(6) 

Please see the a ttached report of i nvestigation of a whistleblower complaint filed under 
the program for enhancement of contractor protection from reprisa l for disclosure of 
certa i n  information (4 1 U .S.C. § 47 1 2) .  As noted in the repo rt, within 30 days after 
receiving an OIG report pursuant to Section 47 1 2(b), the U .S. Agency for Global Media is 
required to determine whether there is a sufficient basis to concl ude that the g ra ntee 
subjected the complainant to a reprisal p rohibited by Section 47 1 2(a) and to issue an 
order denyi ng rel ief or ta king one or more of the remed ia l  act ions specified in Section 
47 1 2(c)(1 ) . 

Please feel free to contact Assistant Inspector General Jeffrey McDermott at (57 1 )  349-
r
b)(6l 

i . h 
. 

�--------------�wit any questions . 

cc: l
(b)(3)41 U S  Code§ 4712; (b)(6) 

Mr. Benjamin Herman, Counsel for RFE/RL 
Mr. Fermaint Rios, Procurement Executive, U .S. Agency for Global Media 

U.S. Department of State, Office of Inspector General, 1 700 N. Moore S treet, Arlington, VA 22209 
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Office of I nspector Genera l  
Un ited States Department of State 

UNCLASSIFIED February 6, 2020 

FROM:  

TO: 

SUBJECT: 

OIG - Jeffrey D. McDermott, Assistant Inspector Genera l 

OIG - Steve A. Unick, Inspector Genera l  

Report of Investigation Pu rsuant t o  4 1  U.S.C. § 47 1 2  
OIG Whist leb lower Case 201 9-0075 (b)(3)41 u s Code§ 

A 7 1 ") - /h\/�\ 

□ 
The Office of In spector Genera l (OIG) is requ ired to investigate complaints filed by 
employees of contractors, subcontractors, g rantees, or subgrantees, and by persona l  
services contractors who provide credible information a l leging that  they were subject to 
reprisal for whistleblowing activity. 1 Upon completion of the investigation, OIG is 
required to submit a report of the findings of its investigation to the complainant, the 
contractor or g rantee concerned, and the head of the agency. Not less than 30 days 
after receiving  the report of OIG's findings, the head of the agency concerned is 
required to determine whether there is a sufficient basis to conclude that the contractor 
or grantee subjected the complainant to a reprisa l  prohibited by law and to issue an 
order denying relief or taking one or more of the remedial actions specified i n  the law. 2 

b)(3)41 U S Code 
As described below, OIG received a complaint from 4112; (b)(6) an employee of a U.S. 
Agency for Global Media (USAGM) g ra ntee, a l l eging that he was demoted and that his 
contract was not renewed after he made a protected whist leblower disclosu re. OIG 
found that b��l !1,1�;� did make a protected disclosure but that his employer, Radio Free 
Europe/Radio Liberty (RFE/RL), provided clear and convincing evidence that it wou ld 
have taken the same person nel action absent b)(3)41 u s disclosure. 

,nrlP S 47 1 7 ·  

1 41 U .S.C. § 471 2 .  The orig ina l  act was  enacted on Janua ry 2 ,  201 3, and  appl ied to employees of 
contractors, su bcontractors, a nd  g rantees. The act was amended on December 1 6, 201 6, to include 
personal services contractors. 
241 U .S.C. § 471 2(c)( 1 ) .  
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Allegation 
(b)(3)41 U S  
code§ 4112;  fi led a compla int with OIG u nder Section 47 1 2  a l leging that RFE/RL demoted 

h im and decided against renewing his contract after he raised concerns about RFE/RL's 
Kazakh Service. b��l !1,1�;� al leged that the Kazakh Service coverage had an editoria l  
bias that inappropriate ly favored certain pol itical and re ligious groups i n  Kazakhstan. He 
a lso ra ised concerns to senior management about the use of grants fu nds. According to 

l(b)(3)41 u s  Godel after he disclosed this purported misconduct and mismanagement of a 
federal grant to various senior RFE/RL officia ls, he was taken off an important 
assignment, removed from other RFE/RL activities, and was later told that h is 
employment contract wou ld  not be renewed after 201 9. 

OIG reviewedK?H3)�1.�:� I compla int and determined that it contained sufficient detai ls 
to a l lege a violation of the prohibition against reta liation for engaging in a protected 
activity. Consequently, OIG initiated an investigat ion of the a l legations. 

Background 

b)(3)41 U S Code§ 4712; (b)(6) 

I I 20 1 7  (b)(3)41 us b d b h h b 1 ·  d b • • • n ate code � 4112:  ecame concerne a out w at e e Ieve to e impropriety m 
RFE/RL's Kazakh Service. l(b)(3)41 u s  I bel ieved that members of the service displayed a n  
editorial bias that inappropriately favored certain political and religious groups in 
Kazakhstan . l(b)(3)41 u s  I a lso had security concerns regarding the re lationship between 
one senior member of the Kazakh Service and the cou ntry's government. Additiona l ly, 
[?)(3)�1.�:� !bel ieved that other RFE/RL employees had been terminated in the past after 
making simi lar complaints. 

���1 !1,1�1� contacted the RFE/RL General Counsel in December 201 7 to express these 
concerns and documented them in  a memo to the Genera l  Counsel in February 201 8. 
Fol l owing these in it ia l  conservations, ���i �1

4�i�; a lso spoke about these issues with 

2 
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various other senior RFE/RL officia ls, incl uding the Chief of Staff, Director of Human 
Resou rces, and  Chief of  Secu rity, over the  ensuing several months. Since his initia l 
d isclosu re, he a lso raised similar concerns about other language services and the use of 
g rant funds. 

(b)(3)41 U S  
code§ 4112;  claims that, as a resu lt of expressing these concerns, he was removed from 
the NION project in May 20 1 8  before it was completed and was reassigned to the Uzbek 
Service, which he believed was a demotion.3 �El(3 l �1.�:� lalso told OIG that his contract 
came under review in mid-201 8  and that RFE/RL decided not to renew his contract, 
which was set to expire in January 2020. b)(3 l41 u s elieved when he arrived at RFE/RL .nrlP /< ,17 1 ? ·  

that  h is employment there was open -ended because the extensions were forma l ities 
that were routinely granted, and he a l leged that its nonrenewal was a lso reta liatory. 

Standard for Al leging a Claim of Reprisa l  

As an  employee of a USAGM grantee, ���� !\�;� is entitled to fi le a complaint under 
Section 47 1 2. OIG initia l ly reviewed this complaint to determine whether ( 1 ) he made a 
protected disclosu re, (2) his employer took an action against him that could be 
considered an  act of reprisa l ,  and (3) his complaint was filed within 3 years of the 
a l leged reprisa l .  

Protected Disclosu re 

Under Section 47 1 2, information qual ifies as a protected disclosu re if it is made to or 
among other individua ls and entities, a Federal employee responsib le  for contract or 
g rant oversight or management at the re levant agency or an employee of the contractor 
with the responsibility to investigate, discover, o r  address misconduct. The protected 
disclosu re must constitute information that the employee reasonably believes is 
evidence of gross mismanagement of a Federa l  contract or g rant, a gross waste of 
Federa l  funds, an abuse of authority re lating to a Federal contract or grant, a substantia l 
and specific danger to publ ic health or safety, o r  a violation of law, ru le, o r  reg u lation 
related to a Federa l  contract (inc luding the competition for, or negotiation of, a 
contract) or g rant. 

(b)(3)41 U S  
Based on the evidence that code§ 411 2; provided, OIG determined that his statements to 
the RFE/RL Genera l Counsel (as wel l  as  other senior RFE/RL management officia ls) 
qua lify as a protected disclosure because they were made to an employee of the 

3 I n  September 201 8, he  fi led a formal  compla int of  retal iat ion with RFE/RL's Office of  Human Resources 
(H R) .  

3 
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g rantee responsi ble for invest igat i ng, d iscoveri ng, or addressing misconduct. A lso, the 
d isclosures were related to informat ion that b��l !1,1�;� reasonably believed to be 
evidence of a violation of law, ru le, or regu lation related to a Federal g rant and abuse of 
authority relating to a Federal g rant. Specifically, the d isclosu res pertained to abuse of 
authority and confl icts of interest in the Kazakh Service. 

Al leged Retal iation 

The law defi nes reprisal as being "d ischa rged, demoted, or otherwise d iscrim inated 
against" as a result of a protected d isclosure. 4 In th is  case, RFE/RL removed ��-b-��-!_-41-.. u-. . �-:-co-ct�el 
from his role on the NION project and decided not to rene b!1ii\�i�i code mployment 
agreement after l(bl(3l41 u s  I had made several protected d isclosures. 

Timely Complaint 

OIG received ���i �1
4�i�; compla int on Apri l 1 1 , 201 9, which is with i n  the three-year 

statute of l imit·a-fions rom the date of the a lleged reprisal actions in May and June  of 
20 1 8. 

Burden of Proof 

Under 4 1  U .S.C. § 47 1 2(c) (6), the legal burdens of proof specified i n  5 U .S.C. § 1 22 1  (e) 
shal l  be contro ll ing for the pu rposes of any invest igat ion conducted by an Inspector 
General. Under 5 U.S.C. § 1 22 1  (e) , an employee must present evidence that he or she 
made a protected d isclosure, which was a contribut ing factor in  a person nel action 
taken aga i nst h im or her. The employee may make th i s  showing through d i rect or 
circumstant ia l evidence, such as evidence that (a) the offic ia l  taking the personnel action 
knew of the d isclosure and (b) the personnel act ion occurred with in  a period of t ime 
such that a reasonable person could conclude that the d isclosure was a contribut ing 
factor in  the personnel act ion. 

Once the employee has met th is  burden, the burden of proof shifts to the employer, 
which must present clear and convinc ing evidence that it would have taken the same 
personnel act ion in  the absence of such d isclosure.5 In Carr v. Social Security 

Administration, the cou rt adopted the fol lowing test: 

4 41 USC § 4 71 2(a)(1 ) .  
5 Carr v. Social Security Admin., 1 85 F.3d 1 3 1 8, 1 322 (Fed . Cir. 1 999). 

4 
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[W]hen determining whether an agency has shown by clear 
and convincing evidence that it wou ld have taken the same 
personnel action in the absence of whist leblowing, . . .  the 
fol lowing factors [should be considered] :  the strength of the 
agency's evidence in support of its personnel action; the 
existence and strength of any motive to retal iate on the part 
of the agency officia l s  who were involved in the decision; and 
any evidence that the agency takes simi lar actions against 
employees who are not whist leblowers but who are 
otherwise similarly situated.6 

The courts have defined clear and convincing evidence as the degree of proof "which 
produces in the mind of the trier of fact an abid ing conviction that the truth of a factual 
contention is 'high ly probable."'7 However, an employer does not need to prove each of 
the factors by clear and convincing evidence. Rather, the three factors wil l  be weighed 
together to determine whether as a whole the evidence is clear and convincing, and a 
strong showing on one factor may be sufficient.8 

Complainant's Burden 

OIG obtained documenta ry and testimonia l evidence demonstrating that b��f�1,�;�i code 

protected disclosures may have been a contributing factor in the personnel  action taken 
against him. In particular, the officia ls  taking the action were aware of his disclosures, 
and the person nel action took p lace within a period of time after his d isclosu res such 
that a reasonable person could conclude that the disclosures were a contributing factor 
in the personnel actions taken against him. 

RFE/RL's General Counsel and Director of H R  were both aware of l(b)(3)41 u s I concerns 
when they made • • n that his contract wou ld  not be renewed . Beg inning in 
D b 201 7 (b)(3)41 us d b b f h . . h ecem er , code§ 471 2; expresse concern s a out a use o aut onty in t e 
language services to these officia ls, as wel l as to the Chief of Staff a nd Ch ief of Secu rity. 
For example, via Skype messages, �2�2 !1,�;� raised concerns to the General Cou nsel 
about abuse of authority and conflicts of interest in the Kazakh Service. These concerns 

6 Carr, 1 85 F.3d 1 3 1 8, 1 323 (Fed . Cir. 1 999) (cit ing Geyer v. Dep 't ofJustice, 7 M.S.P.R. 682, 688, affd, 1 1 6 
F.3d 1 497 (Fed. C i r. 1 997)). 
7 Road & Highway Bwlders v. US, 702 F.3d 1 365, 1 368 (Fed. C i r. 20 1 2)(citing Am-Pro Protective Agency v. 
U.S., 281 F.3d 1 234, 1 240 (Fed. C i r. 2002). 
8 Lucchetti v. Dep 't of Interior, 201 7 MSPB LEX IS  743 (Feb 1 5, 20 1 7) (citing Phillips v. Dep't of 
Transportation, 1 1 3  M.S.P.R. 73, 77 (201 0)). 
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a l so invo lved the Regional Director for Central Asia, who oversaw bii�: i�lr�t code§ 

performance. 

Th G I C I d h h h d (b)(3)4 1 U S  d . h e enera ounse state t at e s  a re code �  41 1 2 memo ocu ment ing t ese 
issues with the Chief of Staff and Chief of Security in Februa ry 201 8. RFE/RL initiated an 
eva l uation of the Kaza kh Service, which i t  com leted in May 20 1 8. During that same 
month, the Editor-in-Chief notified bb�i ;\�i�; h at he wou ld be removed from the 
temporary NION project a nd return to the Uzbek Service as a Senior Editor. Although he 
was never formal ly given a different tit le at NION, bb�i ;\�i�; used the tit le of " Executive 
Editor" whi le working on the NION project and told OIG that he  u nderstood his return 
to the Uzbek Service as  a Senior Editor to be a demotion .  Accord ing to both  �!(�!�1. �;� 
a nd RFE/RL documentation ,  however, his return to the Uzbek Service did not resu lt in a 
change of title, change of pay, or any administrative action such as a new contract. 

In J une 20 1 8, 1�!(�! �1. �;� ! email ed the Regiona l  Director for Centra l Asia inqu iring about 
his eligibility for h ome leave that year. The Regiona l  Director for Central Asia responded 
that ���2!1, �;� contract was d ue to expire in January 201 9  a nd there wou ld be "no 
guarantee" of renewal for January 2020. Based on this exchange a nd his reassignment to 
the Uzbek Service, bb�i �\�i�: e l ieved that he  was being reta l iated against and 
conveyed these concerns in a memo to the HR Director in October 201 8. In December 
20 1 8, RFE/RL renewed his contract u ntil J anuary 2020 but included language in the 
employment agreement stating that the position of Senior Editor wou ld  not be avai lable 
for further extension .  The same document stated that ���i !14�1� cou ld  apply for any 
open positions  at RFE/RL and  was e l igib le for continuing employment if selected for 
another role. 

OIG concludes that �b�i �1
4�i�: presented sufficient evidence to demonstrate that his 

protected disclosu res were a contributing factor in the personnel actions taken  against 
him. �b�i ;\�i�; emonstrated that RFE/RL officials who were involved in the person nel 
actions, such as the Genera l  Counsel and the Director of HR, were aware of h is protected 
disclosures a nd that the person nel actions took p lace within a short period of time 
thereafter such that a reasonable person cou ld  conclude that the disclosures were a 
contributing factor in those actions. 

d •  I bH3l4 1 us h '  b d f f d § d h b d Accor ing  y, ode§ 41 12; et 1s  u r  en o proo un  er 4 1  U.S.C. 471 2, an t e u r  en 
shifts to RFE/RL to present clear and  convincing evidence that it wou ld have taken the 
same personnel action in the absence of b)(3)4 1 u .s . code isclosures. 47 1 ?  /h\/R\ 

Contractor's Burden 
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OIG fou nd that RFE/RL presented clear and convincing evidence that it wou ld have 
taken the same personnel action against�!�2 ! 1

, �;� I in the absence of his protected 
disclosures. 

The first factor that the cou rts use to weigh whether an employer/agency has met its 
burden is the strength of the contractor's evidence in support of its personnel action. In 
examining this factor, the Merit Systems Protection Board9 examines the evidence 
supporting the personnel action and whether there were " legit imate reasons" for the 
person nel action. 1 0  

RFE/RL officia ls provided evidence that �b�i ;\�i�; was reassigned from the  NION 
project to the Senior Editor position because his work on the NION project was 
complete. bl(3l41 u s was brought onto the project to assist in its production, and once ,mjp IS 47 1 ? · 
production was completed, he was reassigned because his work had conc l uded.  

(b)(3)41 U S  Code 
Similarly, RFE/RL officia ls provided evidence that they decided not to renew § 41 12; (b)(6) 

contract in December 201 8, because he had completed the tasks that he had been 
assigned and he was no longer needed in the Uzbek Service. According to RFE/RL 
officia ls, the company h ired �!�2 !1, �;� I to address ongoing problems in the Uzbek 
Service, but ����!�1 . �;� I and RFE/RL officials determined that the problems were 
relatively minor, and he was able to resolve them. RFE/RL management officia ls a lso 
stated that there was not enough work in the Uzbek Service for ���1 11

.1
�1� after he was 

reassigned in May 201 8 and had resolved the problems in the Uzbek Service that he was 
hired to address. b��l 11

.1
�1� colleagues agreed that there was not enough work for 

him in the Uzbek Service. For example, one officia l stated that, a lthough there was 
enough work in the Uzbek Service when RFE/RL hired ���i !14�i� , over time it became 
difficu lt for RFE/RL officia ls  to find work for b)(3 l41 u s Code 

4712; (b)(6) 

Additiona l ly, RFE/RL officia ls stated that they could not assig n ���i !\�i� to other tasks 
because his ski l l set did not a l ign with what is norma l ly requ i red of a Senior Editor in the 
Uzbek Service. According to RFE/RL officia ls, t he company typica l ly fi l ls senior editor 
positions  with local journalists with knowledge of the service's language. OIG confirmed 
that the position description for ���1 11

.1
�1� ro le, which he and an RFE/RL H R  specia l ist 

signed, requ ires both skills. OIG confirmed that b)(3)41 u s id not have a journal ism 
.nrlP /< .17 1 ? ·  

background, nor was he a native speaker of Uzoe ; accor mg to his resume, he does, 
however, read Uzbek at an advanced level and speak it conversationa l ly. 

9 The Merit Systems Protection Board i nterprets the Whistleblower Protection Act in cases of a l leged 
reta l iation aga inst Federa l employees. 5 U.S.C. § 1 22 1 (a). 
1 0  Baker v. Dep't of Defense, 201 6 MSPB LEXIS 4567 (201 6). 

7 

Page 8 of 1 0  

--_J 

r ~ 
I 

[ J 

I 
~ 

k 
-✓ 



Although RFE/RL did not renew �2�2 ! 1. �1� I contract beyond January 2020, RFE/RL 
officials made it clear that he could apply for other posit ions. As noted previously, M r. 

l(bl(3 l41 u s  !contract extension for 20 1 9  states that he "may apply for any open positions 
avai lable at RFE/RL and may be av • continu ing employment if selected for 
another role." As of January 2020, bb�i i

14�i�; had not applied for other positions at 
RFE/RL. 

�b_)(B_) -� 

Thus, with regard to the first Carr factor, the strength of the evidence supporting the 
personnel action and whether there were "legitimate reasons" for the action, RFE/RL 
provided evidence that supports its reasoning for the personnel actions it took with 
respect to 1�)��!! 1 . �;� I 

With respect to the second Carr factor-existence and strength of any motive to 
retaliate on the part of the ind ividua ls who were involved in the decision-OIG cou ld 
find  no  evidence of reta liatory motive by the ind ividuals responsible for the decision not 
to renew ���l !\�i� contract. F i rst, the individuals responsible for the decision not to 
renew his contract-RFE/RL's General Cou nsel and the Di rector of HR- were not the 
subject of the protected disclosures, a nd these individuals were responsive to M r. 

1�'?'/}r1" g concerns. RFE/RL's General Cou nsel told OIG that he a nd the Director of H R  
made the decision t o  include a clause in K?H3 l � 1.�:� !contract specifying that his cu rrent 
posit ion wou ld not be renewed in 2020. None of ���1 !1

.1.
�i� complaints concerned 

either of these ind ividuals, nor d id he a l lege that they displayed any an imus towards 
h im. As stated previously, both ind ividua ls were aware at the time that b)(3)41 u s  had 

.nrlo g .1.7 1 ? · 
made protected whistleblower disclosures. In fact, both individuals state t at t ey 
advocated for renewing bl(3 l41 us code ontract for at least one more year specifica lly to 

.1.7 1 ? ·  /hi/RI 

avoid creating the perception that he was being terminated in reta liation for his 
protected disclosu res. The General Cou nsel told OIG that if there was any concern about 
the extension and nonrenewal of �)(�!! 1. �;� contract, it was that "RFE/RL was being 
overly cautious in  offering b)(�!!1. �;� a posit ion for another year, "  despite the 
awareness that there was l ittle • . Additionally, OIG reviewed emai ls a nd 

(b)(3)41 U S  
other commu nication between code§ 41 1 2; nd these individuals a nd fou nd that the 
Genera l  Counsel and other RFE/RL officia ls were res onsive to his concerns. For 
example, emails from February 201 8  between bb�i i

1
4�i�; the General Counsel, a nd the 

Chief of Staff show that RFE/RL reviewed �2�2 !\�;� concerns, provided feedback to 
him, and requested addit ional information. RFE/RL officia ls told OIG that it 
commissioned independent reviews of the Kazakh Service content in response to Mr. 

l�l(3 l � 1.�:� hl legations. 

S d h · 1  h • d' 'd I b h (bH3 l41 u s  • d ( h R • I econ , w I e t  e i n  Iv I  u a  s a out w om code§ 41 1 2; ra ise concerns t e eg Iona 
Director for Central Asia a nd the Editor- in -Ch ief) were l i kely aware that he had raised 
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concerns about the Uzbek Service, OIG cou ld not determine whether they were aware 
that the a l legations were d irected at them. In any case, these ind ividua ls approved of 
RFE/RL extending 1�2�2 !1, �;� I contract for an add itiona l  year, which weighs  against 
evidence of retal iatory motive. 1 1  

F ina l ly, the third Carrfactor considers whether RFE/RL took simi lar action against 
individua ls  who were n ot whist leblowers but who were otherwise simi larly situated. 
RFE/RL provided evidence that numerous employees (who were not whist leb lowers) 
were given one-year or short-term contracts and that those contracts were not renewed 
or terminated once the tasks for which they were h ired were completed. Thus, the 
decision to assign (b)(3)41 u s to a short-term contract and not to renew it was not r'.nrlo 1- ,17 1 ? ·  

exceptiona l .  

Conclusion 

ade a protected disc losu re by commun icating h is concerns regarding 
a use o authority and conflicts of interest in the Kazakh Service. Short ly thereafter, 
RFE/RL mana ement e lected not to renew 1�2�2 ! 1, �1� !contract beyond January 2020. 
Because �b�i �14�i�: et h i s  burden under Sect ion 471 2, RFE/RL was requ i red to provide 
clear and convincing  evidence that it wou ld have taken the same action i n  the absence 
of this disc losure. 

RFE/RL provided c lear  and convincin evidence that it wou ld have taken the same 
personnel actions with respect to �b�i ;14�i�; absent h is protected disclosure. In addition, 
RFE/RL provided evidence indicating' a e decision to reassign him a nd to not renew 
his contract was unrelated to his disclosure; rather, RFE/RL elected not to renew ��{(3 )1 

���i !14�1� contract for two reasons: (1 ) the specia l projects to which he was assigned 
ended, leaving  him with relatively l itt le work to do in the Uzbek Service; and (2) he was 
not a native Uzbek speaker and was not tra ined as a traditiona l  journal ist, as wou ld 
typically be required of a senior editor in the Uzbek Service. According ly, RFE/RL met its 
burden and, based on the evidence presented, OIG conc ludes that there is not sufficient 
evidence to demonstrate that RFE/RL reta l iated against �b�i ;1

4�i�; as set forth i n  4 1  
u.s.c. § 471 2. 

1 1  The RFE/RL President had ult imate responsibi l ity for approving the extension, which inc luded the 
nonrenewa l clause. 
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Kelu Chao 

Office of I nspector Genera l  
United States Department of State 

Acting Chief Executive Officer 
U .S. Agency for Global Med ia 

Catherine McMullen 
Ch ief, D isclosure Unit 
Office of Special Counsel 

Dear Mses. Chao and McMullen :  

April 22, 2021 

Th is letter is in reference to the referral that the Office of Inspector General (OIG) received from 
the U.S . Agency for Global Media (USAGM) on February 18, 2021, requesting OIG investigate 
matters contained in a referral from the Office of Special Counsel (OSC) under 5 U .S.C. § 1213. 
OIG has begun or planned work on several of the matters in this referral and therefore wanted to 
lay out how it will review each of the allegations included in the referral. 

Violations of the Firewall 

The referral conta ined allegations regarding violations of the firewall. S imilar work was also 
requested by Congress in the Joint Explanatory Statement accompanying the Consolidated 
Appropriations Act, 2021. This work will be handled by OIG's Office of Inspections (ISP) and is 
currently being scoped . ISP previously reported on USAGM's journalistic sta ndards a nd principles 
and is familiar with these issues.1 ISP plans its work in advance in cycles, and this review will 
commence with the fall 2021 inspection cycle. 

Termination of the Boards and Presidents of USA GM Networks 

The referral conta ined allegations regarding the termination by the former Chief Executive Officer 
(CEO) of the Boards and Pres idents of USAGM's grantee networks. OIG rece ived and reviewed 
complaints on these actions, but found that the National Defense Authorization Act for Fiscal Year 

1 O IG, Targeted Inspection of the U.S. Agency for Global Media: Journalistic Standards and Principles ( ISP-I8-21-06, 
December 2020) . 

Office of Inspector General I U.S. Department of State I 1700 North Moore Street I Arl i ngton, Virginia 22209 
www.stateoig.gov 
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2017 states that these individuals "shall serve at the pleasure of' the CEO. 2 Therefore, OIG does 
not plan any further work on this matter. 

Suspension of Six Career Employees 

The referral conta ined allegations that the former CEO improperly suspended the security 
clea rances of six USAGM career senior execut ives and placed them on administrative leave. OIG's 
Office of Evaluations and  Spec ial P rojects is conducting investigations of these suspensions under 
Presidential Policy Directive-19 and plans to issue its find ings in May 2021. 

Indefinite Freeze on Spending, Hiring, and Contracting 

The referral conta ined allegations that the former CEO indefin itely froze spend ing, hiring, a nd 
contracting actions, which threatened USAGM's mission. OIG received complaints on this issue 
and began reviewing the matter. As is our practice, we coordinated with the Government 
Accountability Office (GAO) to ensure that we d id  not duplicate work that they were performing. 
GAO informed OIG that it has two bod ies of work on USAGM :  an audit regarding USAGM 
governance and a review as to whether USAGM violated the lmpoundment Control Act. 
According to GAO, issues with the freeze will be covered by both bod ies of work, which a re likely 
to be published th is yea r. Therefore, OIG does not plan any further work on this matter. 

Denial of J-1 Visas 

The referral conta ined allegations that the former CEO's inaction on renewing J-1 visas 
th reatened agency operations and the safety of some of the visa holders. OIG received 
complaints on this issue and  began reviewing the matter. However, GAO informed OIG that its 
audit will cover th is issue, and thus OIG does not plan any further work on this matter. 

Contracts with External Law Firms 

The referral conta ined allegations that the former CEO signed contracts with McGuireWoods and  
spent over $1 million in  funds for work that could have been conducted for significa ntly less by 
agency employees or OIG. OIG's Office of Evaluations and  Special Projects has begun preliminary 
work on th is matter and has already requested and received hund reds of documents from 

2 22 U.S.C. § 6209(d ) .  

Page I 2 

www.stateoig.gov 

Page 2 of 3 



McGuireWoods. Due to resource constra ints and  the large number of documents to review, it will 
likely take OIG several months to complete this work. 

I hope that this information is helpful. When we complete a ny of the reports referenced above, 
we will provide a copy to USAGM and OSC. If you have a ny questions about these matters, please 
feel free to contact Assista nt Inspector General Jeff McDermott at f�

b
-
)(6
_
) 
_____ 

� 

�fa 
Diana Shaw 
Acting Inspector General 
U .S. Depa rtment of State 
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UNCLASSIFIED 

TO: 

FROM: 

SUBJECT: 

OIG Office of Inspector Genera l  
U.S. Department of State • Broadcasting Board of Governors 

Kenneth Weinstein, Acting Boa
��,��an, BBG 

Steve A. Linick, Inspector Gene� 

Report of lnv�tigation Pursuant to 41 U.S.C. § 4712 
OIG Whistleblower Case 2015-0021 b)(3)41 u.s. Code§ 4712; 

b)(6) 

February 3, 2017 

Please see the attached report of investigation of a whistleblower complaint filed under the pilot 
program for enhancement of contractor protection from reprisal for disclosure of certain 
information (41 U.S.C. § 4712). As noted in the report, within 30 days after receiving an OIG 
report pursuant to Section 4712(b), the Broadcasting Board of Governors (BBG) is required to 
determine whether there is a sufficient basis to conclude that the grantee subjected the 
complainant to a reprisal prohibited by Section 4712(a) and to issue an order denying relief or 
taking one or more of the remedial actions specified in Section 4712(c)(1). 

Should you have any questions, please feel free to contact me at (202) 663-0361, or Jeffrey 
McDermott at r)(6) 

I 

cc: Ben Herman, General Counsel, RFE/RL 
!(b)(3):41 U.S. Code§ 4712 

Cherylynn Peters, Director, Office of Contracts, BBG 
Andre Mendes, Chief Information Officer/Chief Technology Officer, BBG 

U.S. Department of State, Office of Inspector Genera l, Washington, DC 20S22-0308 
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QIG Office of Inspector Genera l 
U.S. Department of State • Broadcasting Board of Governors 

UNCLASSIFIED 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: 

FROM: 

Subject: 

OIG - Steve A. Linick □b)(6) 
AIG/ESP - Jennifer Costello 

Report of Investigation Pursuant to ,....._......__._._.....,._.;z,..L-...LL...���� 

OIG Whistleblower Case 2015-0021 

February 2, 201 7  

Pursuant to the Pilot Program for Contractor Whistleblowers, 41 U .S.C. § 471 2, the Office of 
Inspector General (OIG) is required to investigate complaints filed by employees of contractors, 
subcontractors, and g rantees who provide credible information alleging that they were subject 
to reprisal for whistleblowing activity. 1 Upon completion of the investigation, OIG is required to 
submit a report of the findings of its investigation to the complainant, the contractor or grantee 
concerned, and the head of the agency. Not less than 30 days after receiving an inspector 
general report pursuant to Section 4712(b), the head of the agency concerned is required to 
determine whether there is a sufficient basis to conclude that the contractor or g rantee 
subjected the complainant to a reprisal prohibited by Section 4712(a) and to issue an order 
denying relief or taking one or more of the remedial actions specified in Section 4712(c)(1). 

As described below, OIG received a complaint from )�;)�;41  u s  Code §  47 1 2; n employee of a 
grantee, that he was reassigned from his position as Director of the Telecommunications and 
Network Department to the Director of Telecommunications, a position with significantly less 
responsibility, after having made protected whistleblower disclosures. OIG's investigation found 
tha (b)(3)41 u s Code §  was the subiect of reprisal following his disclosures and that his employer 7 1 2; (b)(6) :i 
did not provI e c ear and convincing evidence that it would have taken the same action absent 

(b)(3):4 1  u.s. Code § disclosures. 7 1 2; (b)(6) 

Allegation b)(3):41 U .S .  Code § 47 1 2; 
On February 19, 2016 b)(6) filed a complaint with OIG under Section 4712 

L---------' 

alleging that he was reassigned from his position as Director of the Telecommunications and 
Network Department for Radio Free Europe/Radio Liberty (RFE/Rl), a g rantee of the 

1 The requirements of the statute are set forth as an appendix. 
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Broadcasting Board of Governors (BBG), to the position of Director of Telecommunications in 
retaliation for disclosing information regarding alleged improprieties by LBS, the corporation 
that owns the headquarters building of RFE/RL. OIG reviewed the complaint and determined 
that it contained sufficient details to allege a violation of the prohibition against reprisal for 
engaging in a protected activity under Section 471 2.2 Accordingly, in February 2016, OJG 
initiated an investigation of the allegations. 

Background/Chronoloqy 
b)(3)4 1 U S  Code§4712; (b)(6) 

In May 2012, L88 purchased the headquarters building of RFE/RL and signed a lease with RFE/RL 
(with the BBG listed as co-obligor) that assigned RFE/RL responsibility for operation and 
maintenance of the building, a task that was assigned to the Technology Division. In March 
201 3, L88 denied the Technology Division access to invoices and documentation related to the 
maintenance and operations of the building, such as utility bills received by L88 that were 
needed to track RFE/Rl expenses for bui lding maintenance. Because RFE/Rl senior officials took 
no action to resolve this problem. Kb)(3):41 us cadet and two other complainants raised concerns 
about this issue to the Chief Information Officer/Chief Technology Officer (CIO/CTO) of the BBG 
in early 2014. The CIO/CTO discussed their concerns with RFE/RL's CFO, who in March 2014  
became the Interim Co-Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of RFE/Rl. However, after the CFO failed to 
resolve the concerns, the BBG CIO/CTO brought them, as well as other concerns about the 
activities of l88, to the attention of the BBG Board. In September 2014, the BBG Board ordered a 
review of the activities of L88 and the relationship between LBS employees and RFE/Rl officials 
to be conducted by the then-General Counsel of the BBG with the assistance of the Acting 
General Counsel of RFE/Rl. As part of this review, the Acting General Counsel interviewed Mr. 
b��l !1

,1�/� who explained his concerns about L88, including those about the relationship 
between the Interim Co-CEO and L88. On October 24, 2014, the BBG General Counsel sent a 
report to the BBG Board that was critical of the relationship between L88 and RFE/RL and 
concluded that some of L88's activities appeared to violate both Federal law and RFE/Rl ethics 

2 Two other RFE/RL employees filed complaints with OIG based on the same disclosures. OIG issued a separate report 
for each complainant. 
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b)(3) 41 U .S Code § rules. The report included some of the concerns raised b 11 2; (b)(6) nd his colleagues in 
the Technology Division. 

In October 2014, ���l !14�1t raised security concerns with the Interim Co-CEO about L88's 
plans to install Wi-Fi in the RFE/RL building, which b!�ri.\�i�, Code contended could interfere with 
the RFE/Rl network According t b)(3l4 1 u s code § the Interim Co-CEO told him that he would • 71 7· fh\fn\ 

• h • h L88 b h w· F. · 1 1  • II d b)(3) 41 u s Code § d f h '  raise t ese concerns wit , ut t e 1 - 1 was stI msta e 11 2: <bl<6l an two o 1s 
colleagues in the Technology Division also raised concerns with the Interim Co-CEO about the 
propriety of several of L88's expenditures that were billed to RFE/RL. 

In November 2014, the Interim Co-CEO requested that the HR  Director at the time send him a 
list of employees in the Technology Divis ion who received the highest performance ratings. 
Shortly after receiving the list, the HR Director instructed the Director of the Technology Division 
to retroactively downgrade the ratings of some of his staff. The Director selected five 
employees to downgrade, including b��1�1,�;�; Code and the HR Director forwarded these names 
to the Inter im Co-CEO, who objected to the two names on the list who had not raised concerns 
about L88.3 

In January 2015, the Interim Co-CEO remov�e_d_th_e_N_e_tw_o�rks Division from under ��b
7
�)��3,}-�:�h�\'=�i�s 

_
_ c

_
o
_
de

_
§
� 

authority. This action significantly reduced b.}�3,} �2,�is code § staff, responsibilities, and overall 
authority. �bl�f�1,�;�; Code asked why this action was being taken, but the Interim Co-CEO refused 
to provide him with a justification. 

In February 201 5, �b!�{i\�i�, Code along with two of his colleagues in the Technology Division, 
sent a letter to OIG and the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) that raised concerns about the 
interference by LBS in the work of RFE/RL and potential conflicts of interest involving RFE/RL and 
LBS officials, including the Interim Co-CEO. 

In July 2015, RFE/RL created the position of CTO and hired into the position a former consultant 
who had been retained to write a report in 2014  with recommendations for improving RFE/Rl.4 

Shortly after his hiring, he was tasked with reorganizing the Technology Division and was 
instructed by senior RFE/RL officials, including its current Vice President who was aware of some 

3 According to RFE/RL personnel records, this downgrading of ratings never actually occurred. 
4 The report had recommended creation of the CTO position. 
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f (b)(3)41 U S. Code § . b)(3) 41 U S Code , o 112: (bl/Bl d1sclosures,s to remove 47 1 7  rh,iRi and his two col leagues.6 The CTO 
responded that he could not simply terminate all of them, because they had a great deal of 
institutional knowledge. !(b)(3):4 1 u .s Code §! previous supervisor, the former head of the Technology 
Division (now a Special Advisor at RFE/RL), confirmed that the CTO had told him that Mr. 

!(b)(3)41 u s  I was on a "kill l ist," but that the CTO had decided not to fire him. 

In September 2015, the Interim Co-CEO was forced to resign from RFE/RL because of conflict of 
interest questions raised by his interactions with L88. 

I N b 2015 th (To . 
& (b)(3)41 U .S Code f h . . h" h d M n ovem er , e in,orme § 411 2; (b)(6) o t e reorgarnzat1on, w 1c remove r. 

�2�2 !1, �;� trom the posit ion of Director o t e Te ecommunications and Network Department 
and re-assigned him to the position of the Director of Telecommunications. This action 
essentia lly ratified the removal of responsibilities that occurred in January 201 5.1�.b�-,p-}-�:-,�-�;s ___ c_od_e_§� 
now reports to the individual who will hold h is previous position. According to b!�fi:\�i�i Code 

he currently has a staff of two employees (as compared to ten before the January 2015 removal 
of the Networks Division), and his only responsibility is managing the telephones of RFE/RL. 

Standard for Alleging a Claim of Reprisal 
As an employee of a BBG grantee, .,,...[b.,...�@,.....1!.,....,1 ....... �,....,,.� .... : c=-o...,.de-,�' s entitled to file a complaint under Section 
4712. OIG initially reviewed his complaint to determine whether (1 ) he made a protected 
disclosure, (2) his employer took an action against him that could be an act of reprisal, and 
(3) his complaint was filed within 3 years of the alleged reprisal. 

Protected Disclosure (b)(3):4 1  u s code 
Beginning in early 2014, § 471 2; (b)(B) made numerous protected disclosures in reporting to 
RFE/RL and BBG officials, as well as to OIG and the FBI . His disclosures regarded the interference 
of L88 with RFE/RL's mission, the propriety of L88 expenditures, and alleged conflicts of interest 
between L88 and RFE/RL officials. These disclosures qual ify as protected disclosures under 
section 4712, because (1) they were made to RFE/RL management and legal officials with the 
responsibility to investigate, discover, or address misconduct; a Federal employee responsible 
for grant oversight or management at the relevant agency which is BBG; the Inspector Genera l 

5 The current Vice President told OIG that he was aware of Kb )(3) � 1 _ u :� �i,,,,_.._.,.._,.....,.__.IULL...._.at his disclosures were 
well known among senior RFE/RL management. The Vice President stated tha �2�2 ! 1,�;� had the right to raise 
concerns about L88, but he wished that he would have done so internally first. 
6 The CTO was not given a reason as to why these three employees should be removed other than the three had 
formed a "tight group" that tried to control situations, which was perceived to be a problem by management. The 
CTO told OIG that he was unaware of the protected disclosures. 
7 According to RFE/RL, (b)(3):41 U .S. salary was not affected by his new title or lessened responsibilities. !'.nrl<> !'- ,171 ?· 
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for the United States Department of State and the Broadcasting Board of Governors; and an 
authorized official at the FBI which is a Department of Justice law enforcement agency, and 
(2) they concerned the possible violation of a law, rule, or regulation related to a Federal grant, 
as well as gross mismanagement of a Federal grant. 

Alleged Reprisal 
I J 201 5  RFE/RL d h N k D. . . f d (b)(3) 41 U.S Code § h . n anuary , remove t or s IvIsIon ram un er 471 2; (b}(6) ut onty. In 

(b}(3):41 U .S .  Code 
November 2015, RFE/RL reassigned il 4712: (bl(6l rom Director of the Telecommunications 
and Network Department to the Director of Telecommunications, a position with much less 
responsibi lity and fewer employees. This reassignment ratified the earlier removal of 
responsibility. 

b
!�G:\bir61 filed his complaint on February 19, 201 6, which is within 3 years of the alleged 

reprisal. 

Burdens of Proof 
Under 41 U.S.C. § 4712(c)(6), the legal burdens of proof specified in 5 U.S.C. § 1 22 1  (e) shall be 
controlling for the purposes of any investigation conducted by an Inspector General. Under 5 
U.S.C. § 1221 (e), an employee must present evidence that he or she made a protected 
disclosure, which was a contributing factor in a personnel action taken against him or her. The 
employee may demonstrate that the disclosure was a contributing factor in the personnel action 
through circumstantial evidence, such as evidence that (a) the official taking the personnel 
action knew of the disclosure or protected activity and (b) the personnel action occurred within 
a period of time such that a reasonable person could conclude that the disclosure or protected 
activity was a contributing factor in the personnel action. 

Once the employee has met this burden, the burden of proof shifts to the employer, which must 
present clear and convincing evidence that it would have taken the same personnel action in the 
absence of such disclosure. Clear and convincing evidence is "that measure or degree of proof 
that produces in the mind of the trier of fact a firm belief as to the allegations sought to be 
established� and is a higher standard than preponderance of the evidence.8 It is an "intentionally 
high standard of proof."9 This heightened burden of proof recognizes that when it comes to 

8 S C.F .R. § 1 209.4(e). 
9 Chambers v. Department of the Interior, 201 1 M.S.P.B. 7 (January 1 1 ,  201 1 ). 
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proving the basis for a personnel decision, the employer "controls most of the cards" and thus 
"bears a heavy burden to justify its actions." 10 

l\bJ��!��-��s Code§ !presented cred ible evidence that he made severa l protected d isclosures 
beginning in early 2014, which were contributing factors in a personnel action taken against 
him. The evidence showed that the former Interim Co-CEO to whom he made some of his 
d isclosures removed the Networks Division from under his command. In add ition, the Vice 
President of RFE/RL, who was also aware of some of his d isclosures, instructed the CTO to 
terminate him the same month that the CTO was hi red and withi n a short time after the latest 
d isclosures occurred in February 2015. Therefo �bi�tii�l(�r Code§ met his burden of proof, and 
the burden shifted to RFE/RL to present clear and convincing evidence that it would have taken 
the same personnel action in the absence of Mr. Hanspeter's d isclosures. 

Results of Investigation 
OIG reviewed personnel and other records provided by RFE/RL and interviewed RFE/RL officials 

d . h b . f b)(3):41 U S. Code§ • A d · b h h v· · to etermine t e asIs or 712: fblr6i reassignment. ccor mg to ot t e current ice 
President of RFE/RL and the CTO, the CTO was the decis ion-maker on the re-assignment. 

d •  h CTO 
b)(3l41 u s 

h d f 1 ·  h RFE/RL d I k d Accor mg to t e , ode§ 4712; a ew accomp Is ments at an ac e 
�nowledge regarding network management. The CTO stated that he wanted to reunite the 
network and telecommunications d ivisions because they are usual ly under the same leadership 
in media organizations. However, he did not want to place �

b
!�{i\�1i�i Code as head of both 

d ivisions because he was aware that RFE/RL management had previously removed responsibi l ity 
(b)(3):41 U.S. Code§ 

for the networks from 4712; (b)(6) 

RFE/RL provided OIG with testimonial evidence and a copy of the CTO's report, which later 
would become the basis for the reorganization of the Technology Division. The report may fai rly 
be read as support for the reorganization, but it does not address individual performance issues. 
The only other documentary evidence OIG obtained contradicts the testimony of RFE/RL 
officials. As noted above, bJ��-:;�1¼,s Code§ performance appraisals demonstrate a history of high 
performance over a number of years.1 1  In add ition, his previous supervisor told OIG that he was 
a consistently exceptional employee and that his reassignment was l i kely the result of his 
protected d isclosures. In add ition, the CIO/CTO of BBG, who serves as program administrator for 

1° Chambers v. Department of the Interior. 201 1 M.S.P.B. 7 (January 1 1 , 201 1 )  (quoting 1 35 Cong. Rec. S2780 (Mar. 1 6, 
1989) (statement by Sen. Levin)). 
11 According to the RFE/RL General Counsel, "RFE/RL management explicitly re roached (b)(3) ! \�;� previous 
supervisor) for giving (him) undeservedly high marks." While that may be true, �)(3) � 1 . � :� as received excellent 
reviews s ince 2001 from several different supervisors, which were reviewed and approved by several different senior 
officials. 
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the grants made to RFE/Rl and has worked closely with the Technology Division staff, told OIG 
that the three complainants are skilled, dedicated, and hard-working employees who have 
served RFE/Rl well and have numerous accomplishments at RFE R such as moving its 
h d f M . h h C O/CTO d .b d (b)(3)41 U.S. Code ea quarters rom unic to Prague. T e I escn e s 47 1 ?  rh\lR\ as a very good 
network administrator and told OIG that it made no sense to him that this responsibility was 

(b)(3) 41 U .S. Code , . removed from § 471 2; (b)(6) Finally, the CIO/CTO told OIG that he believed that the 
reorganization was a pretense for taking retaliatory action. 

Although the CTO and the Vice President of RFE/RL told OIG that the CTO was the decision-
maker on the reassignment of (b)(3l. 4 1  u .s . Code § • esident, who is the CTO's supervisor, 471 ?  /h\fR\ (b)(3) :41 US Code § 
had previously instructed the CTO to fir 471 ::i· rh\lR\ At the time he gave that instruction, the (b)(3) 41 U S. Code § 
Vice President knew of at least some of 471 2: <bl(6l disclosures, which the Vice President 
described as being well known among senior RFE/RL management. The Vice President 
expressed the wish that b!?ri1,�;�; Code had raised his concerns internally before raising them 
outside the organization. In addition, the CTO relied in part on a decision by the former Interim 
Co-CEO, to whom bl(3) 4.1 u .s . code made some of his disclosures, to remove the network 

.b'I' . f (b)(3):41 U .S . Code § responsI 1 ItIes rom 11 2: <bl<6l ���--� 

I ,  f b)(3)41 U S  Code § While RFE/RL was able to articulate a non-reta 1atory reason or 11 2; (b)(6) reassignment, it 
has not produced clear and convin • • ce of this justification or of the fact that it would (b)(3) 41 U .S. Code § 
have taken the same action absen 11 2 b 6 disclosures. RFE/RL produced little, if any, 

(b)(3) 41 U S Code § . h h written documentation ·usti ing 11 2; (b)(6) reassignment. Furt ermore, t e CTO's 
f (b)(3) 41 U .S. Code § k. I 1 d 1 · h • t d. d b  d d f assessment o 11 2; (b)(6) s I s an accomp Is ments Is con ra Icte y over a eca e o 

exceptional performance appraisals and by the testimony of his former supervisor and the 
CIO/CTO of the BBG, both of whom had observed his performance over a longer period of time 
than the CTO. 

Findings 
(b/\� ;�\r�,s Code § ade numerous protected disclosures throughout 2014 and 2015, to various 
internal and external parties regarding his concerns about l88 and the relationship between L88 
and RFE/RL employees b)(3):4 1  us. Code suffered retaliation in January 2015 when the Networks d.71 ?· /h\fR\ 

Division was removed from his authority, and again in November when he was reassigned to the 
position of D i rector of Telecommunications. BecauseKbJ\��.!-�;s Code §made a protected disclosure 
that was a contributing factor (as explained below) in his reassignment RFE/Rl must provide 
clear and convincing evidence that it would have taken the same action in the absence of his 
disclosure. 
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Al h h h CTO h ff . . I h . d (b)(3)41 U S  Code h . d t oug t e was t e o I c1a w o reass1gne § 471 2 ; (b)(6) t e reassignment occurre 
after the CTO's supervisor, the Vice President, had instructed the CTO to fire him. When giving 
that instruction, the Vice President was aware of ��;l;�,1�t Code§ disclosures, the most recent of 
which had occurred only a few months prior. The Vice President expressed the wish that Mr. 
l��(]J�1. �;� lhad made his disclosures internal! first In addition, the CTO relied upon the decision 
by the former Interim Co-CEO, to whom �bi�ri\�i�i Code made some of his disclosures and who 
was forced to resign because of his relationship with L88 to rem ve the network responsibilities 

b)(3)41 U .S. Code§ 
from (b)(3)41 u.s. code . Indeed, the reorganization and 112; (b)(6) new title were essentially a 

� A 7 1 '> · /h\/�\ 

ratification of the earlier removal of responsibili • Interim Co-CEO. All of these 
(b)(3):41 U .S. Code§ 

circumstances taken together demonstrate that 1 1 2 ; (b)(6) isclosures were contributing 
factors in the motivation of senior RFE/RL management to take personnel actions against him. 

The CTO of RFE/RL stated that the reassignment was based on (bi\�; 1�l(�r Code§ lack of 
accomplishments and skills However (bl(3J:41 u s code§ long history of exceptional performance ' 

...,4 7_1
...;.
2 ;-'--(b"-T)(6�) ��__. 

appraisals, as well as assessments of his wor y 1s previous supervisor and the CIO/CTO of 
BBG who had observed his performance longer than the CTO had, contradicts this justification. 
Thus, RFE/RL did not meet its high burden of proof to provide clear and convincing evidence 
that it would have taken the same action absent �bi\� i�,1�; 5 code§ disdosures. 12 

12 In letters dated December 29, 201 6, and January 1 3, 201 7, counsel for the complainant requested that 
OIG consider three issues: (1 ) an assessment of damages for al l three RFE/RL complainants, (2) di rection of 
OIG's report to the Secretary of State rather than the Chairman of BBG, and (3) recommendations for 
corrective action. OIG considered the information submitted by complainant's counsel but determined 
that OIG has met its responsibi l ity under Section 4 71 2 by investigating this matter and preparing this 
report. 
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APPENDIX 

Pilot Program for Contractor Whistleblowers 
In 2013, Congress enacted a pilot program in which an employee of a contractor, subcontractor, 
or grantee may file a complaint with the releva�t OIG alleging that he or she was subject to 
reprisal (a discharge, demotion, or other act of discrimination) for making a protected 
disclosure.13 A protected disclosure is information that the employee reasonably believes is 
evidence of gross mismanagement of a Federal contract or grant; a gross waste of Federal 
funds; an abuse of authority relating to a Federal contract or grant; a substantial and specific 
danger to public health or safety; or a violation of law, rule, or regulation related to a Federal 
contract (including the competition for or negotiation of a contract) or grant. The disclosure 
must be made to: 

• A Member of Congress or a representative of a committee of Congress; 
• An Inspector General; 
• The Government Accountability Office; 
• A Federal employee responsible for contract or grant oversight or management at the 

relevant agency; 
• An authorized official of the Department of Justice or other law enforcement agency; . 
• A court or grand jury; or 
• A management official or other employee of the contractor, subcontractor, or grantee 

who has the responsibility to investigate, discover, or address misconduct. 

The OIG is required to investigate the complaint unless the complaint is frivolous, fails to allege 
a violation of the prohibition against reprisal, or has previously been addressed in another 
Federal or State judicial or administrative proceeding initiated by the complainant. After the 
investigation is completed, the OIG must submit a report of its findings to the head of the 
agency, who is required within 30 days to determine whether there is sufficient basis to 
conclude .that the contractor or grantee has subjected the complainant to a prohibited reprisal. 
The head of the agency may then order the contractor or grantee to take action to remedy the 
reprisal. 

The burden of proof in an investigation under Section 471 2 initially rests with the complainant 
to demonstrate that the protected disclosure was a contributing factor in the reprisal .  The 
burden then shifts to the contractor or grantee to show by clear and convincing evidence that it 
would have taken the same personnel action in the absence of such disclosure.14 

13 41 U.S.C. § 4712. 
14 41 U.S.C. § 4712(c) (6) (incorporating 5 U .S.C. § 1 221(e)). 
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The Honorable Diana Shaw 
Deputy Inspector General 
Office of Inspector General 
U .S .  Department of State 
SA-39, 1 700 North Moore St. 
Arlington, VA 22209 

Dear Honorable Shaw: 

January 14,  202 1 

On June 4, 2020, I became the first ever U.S.  Senate-confirmed Chief Executive Officer of the 
U.S .  Agency for Global Media (USAGM)-the independent federal entity responsible for 
managing and overseeing U.S .  civilian international broadcasting. Already, in this early stage of 
my three-year term, I have become aware of a number of exceptionally serious issues at USA GM 
and its components, which I have outlined below under four categories: 1) security; 2) Open 
Technology Fund (OTF); 3) spending, and; 4) J- 1 visas and hiring foreign nationals. These issues 
are also delineated in Agency Statements, which are both attached and publical ly available at 
USAGM.gov. 

Today, I am formally requesting that the Office of Inspector General (OIG) undertake 
comprehensive investigations of these issues. OIG is best positioned to perform this vital task of 
government oversight on behalf of the American people, not least because it possesses unique 
authorities, including the power to subpoena individuals and documents. This referral draws 
upon findings from not only internal USAGM investigations, but also a series of independent 
investigations performed by McGuire Woods LLP into pertinent issues and individuals, namely 
USAGM personnel p laced on administrative leave, and later, on investigative leave. Please see 
the attached fi les to access McGuireWoods LLP's independent investigations. 

For the sake of safeguarding both the national interest and trust in our public institutions, I 
believe it is crucial that OIG elicit transparency by continuing to shine a l ight upon USAGM and 
its components. 

Thank you for your time and consideration. 

Sincerely, 

Michael Pack 
Chief Executive Officer 
U.S .  Agency for G lobal Media 

1 
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1) Security 

• Previous USAGM senior management had repeatedly failed to adhere to national security 
protocols and essential federal government personnel security practices for at least a 
decade. 

• Previous USAGM senior management left largely unaddressed myriad deep-seated and 
persistent security problems identified in multiple assessments conducted by both the 
U.S .  Office of Personnel Management (OPM) and the Office of the Director of National 
Intelligence (ODNI) between 20 10  and 2020. 

• The aforementioned assessments revealed that, in June 2020, at least 1 ,500 employees at 
USAGM - around 40 percent of the agency's  entire workforce - had been improperly 
vetted, including dozens of individuals given security clearances at the confidential level 
or above and/or access to secure federal government systems and faci lities despite having 
invalid background investigations, adjudicative actions, and government access cards. 

• Previous USAGM officials had cleared the more than 1 ,500 employees even though the 
agency's delegated authority to conduct investigations lapsed back in 20 1 2-due to what 
was already a list of numerous and egregious security violations and deficiencies . 

• This delegated authority was never reinstated and USAGM management failed to take 
decisive action to resolve this issue during the entire ten-year period of OPM and ODNI 
assessments, despite the fact that the issue was repeatedly brought to its attention by 
career USAGM security professionals. 

• In the face of all this, USA GM, under previous senior management continued to issue 
invalid access, security clearances, and suitability determinations. The agency was taking 
fingerprints, but neglecting to submit them to the appropriate authorities-or, in other 
instances, fai ling to take fingerprints, altogether. It was accepting al iases and fake social 
security numbers. It was not requiring the disclosure of foreign travel and foreign 
contacts. And on many occasions, USA GM was hiring individuals who left entire fields 
of background-check fo1ms blank. Even the number of employees with secret and top­
secret clearances was unknown. 

2) Open Technology Fund 

• New USAGM senior management soon discovered numerous, alarming preexisting and 
ongoing instances of mismanagement and security and personnel violations. 

• The former Broadcasting Board of Governors (BBG) and Libby Liu, OTF's Executive 
Director - and the former President of Radio Free Asia (RF A) - had broken off OTF 
from RFA in September 20 1 9. Taking the entire annual appropriation of U.S.-taxpayer 
funding, Ms. Liu incorporated OTF under her own name as an independent non-profit in 
the District of Columbia. 

2 
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• OTF then moved out of RF A and spent a s ignificant amount of grant money to lease 
office space in the high-rent district of the capital ' s  "K Street con-idor." It proceeded to 
spend over $2 million dollars to inflate staff salaries and benefits and host a lavish 
overseas conference. Fwther, as a separate entity, OTF immediately became a duplicative 
level of bureaucracy. It provided grants to civil-society organizations and causes that 
were not only already funded by other parts of the federal government, but umelated to 
internet freedom. 

• USAGM - again, OTF' s singular funding source - requested basic information from 
OTF about the way that it was spending millions of dollars generously provided by the 
American taxpayer. It repeatedly refused to provide this information in direct violation of 
its most elementary contractual obligations. 

• To this day, USA GM and the rest of the federal government know little about OTF ' s  use 
ofU.S.-taxpayer money. As recently as 2020, OTF was apparently paying foreign 
nationals as "technology fellows" up to 65,000 a year, and a number of their identities 
remain unknown. 

• USA GM further received a refenal from OIG for the U.S .  Department of State and 
USAGM concerning conflicts of interest at OTF. When the BBG and Ms. Liu broke off 
OTF as an independent non-profit in September 20 1 9, they did so without adequate 
authorization from Congress .  This created a conflict of interest. OTF already had a 
history of conflicts of interest, first documented in the 20 1 5  OIG audit of RF A 
expenditures. 

• In 2020, OTF materially breached its grant agreement by refusing to provide reasonably­
requested information necessary to conduct proper agency oversight. Perhaps most 
importantly, in direct violation of its grant agreement, OTF used grant funds for projects 
that had nothing to do with internet freedom, exceeding the authorized purposes of the 
Congressional appropriation for internet freedom programs. Fwther dealings with OTF as 
well as its p1incipals and corporate officers were deemed to present a risk to the federal 
government. 

3) Spending 

• USAGM's human relations office and contracting processes, in particular, were in 
disarray. They were simply unable to provide fundamental information about the 
relatively-small federal agency, such as the total number of people employed by 
USAGM. 

• While it was known that a significant percentage ofUSAGM personnel were employed 
as Personal Services Contractors (PSC), the agency was unable to actually provide the 
work agreements, making it virtually impossible to determine, for instance, the number, 
location, and duties of contractors-many of whom are foreign nationals. Further, chains 
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of command were broken and jumbled throughout USAGM, leaving PSCs and Full-time 
Equivalent (FTE) employees alike unsure of their own reporting structures .  

• Reviews conducted by both the U.S. Government Accountability Office (GAO) and OIG, 
and additional investigations of agency operations, revealed a striking amount of 
questionable activity. Frequent "emergencies" were used to justify the ramming through 
of some contracts without normal, regulatory-required reviews and timelines. Other 
contracts were being forced through to cover disparate items, including some that were 
partisan and involved the hiring of friends and companies owned by personal 
acquaintances. 

• When reviewing the financial environment, USAGM's senior management uncovered 
issues that further necessitated a freeze on new hiring. It learned that previous agency 
senior management had been repeatedly violating national security protocols and 
essential federal government personnel security practices for at least a decade. The 
myriad problems impacting the agency were identified in the multiple assessments 
conducted by OPM and ODNI between 20 1 0  and 2020. 

4) J-1 visas and hiring foreign nationals 

• When reviewing budgetary operations, new USAGM senior management learned that the 
agency was relying heavily upon the U.S. Department of State 's J- 1 visa program to 
fulfill what were considered to be journalistic and technical needs that could not be first 
met by U.S.  c itizens. This was deemed to be an improper use of J- 1 visas, for USA GM is 
required to follow Presidential Executive Order 1 3788 on Buy American and Hire 
American. 

• USAGM's new senior management was also concerned to discover that, in violation of 
many federal government security protocols and personnel practices, the agency was 
rubber stamping J- 1 visa applications and renewal requests- that is processing them 
without any semblance of a systematic procedural review. 

• Upon request, the agency was entirely unable to determine the number of foreign 
nationals it was employing through the J- 1 visa program, let alone supply vital 
biographical details of those individuals. Previous USA GM senior management and the 
BBG had not disclosed this issue. 

• The use of J- 1 visas was wrapped up in the severe security violations and deficiencies left 
unaddressed by previous USA GM senior management that were identified in the multiple 
assessments conducted by OPM and ODNI between 20 1 0  and 2020. 
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UNCLASSIF IED 

Office of I nspector Genera l  
Un ited States Department of State 

The Honorable Michael Pack 
Chief Executive Officer 
U .S. Agency for Global Media 
330 Independence Ave., SW 
Suite 3300 
Washington, DC 20237 

Dear Mr. Pack: 

October 29, 2020 

There are a number of items that have been requested in support of the FY 2020 U .S. Agency for 
Global Media (USAGM )  Fi nancial Statement Audit that have not yet been received .  A full list is 
provided below. One or more of these outstand ing items will negatively impact the auditors' 
ability to render an opin ion on the financial statements. The most pressing issue is the receipt of 
USAG M's analysis of "Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Standards 47: Report ing Entity" 
(SFFAS 47), which outlines the criteria for which external parties ( i .e., USAGM's grantees) are 
reported in an agency's financial statements. In add ition, the auditors have requested 
documentation related to the Office of Management and Budget's (0MB) review of the analysis 
and concurrence with USAGM's determination (SFFAS 47 states that "Any uncertainty as to what 
to consider as a reporting entity would be resolved by OMB ... " ) .  Unfortunately, there is no other 
audit evidence or documentation that can be substituted for the analysis. 

Without USAGM's SFFAS 47 analysis and OM B's documented concurrence, the auditors will be 
required to issue a d isclaimer of opin ion on the FY 2020 financial statements. Accord ing to 
generally accepted auditing standards (AU-C§705.10), a disclaimer of opin ion is requ i red when 
"the auditor is unable to obtain sufficient appropriate aud it evidence on which to base the 
opinion, and the auditor concludes that the possible effects on the financial statements of 
undetected misstatements, i f  any, could be both material and pervasive." Because SFFAS 47 is the 
basis for the inclusion or exclusion of USAGM's grantees' financial information in its consolidated 
financial statements, USAGM's analysis and OM B's concurrence on the determination must be 
provided or the auditors will be unable to conclude as to whether the financial statements are 
complete and free from material misstatement. 

Outstanding audit documentation requests (tracking numbers are listed for reference) :  
#84 - SFFAS 47  Analysis 
#139 - Assurance Statement 
#170 - Follow up  on Legal Letter 
#172 - Office of General Counsel's Legal Analysis on Reprogramming of Funds 

Office of Inspector General I U.S. Department of State I 1700 North Moore Street I Arl ington, Virginia 22209 
www.stateoig.gov 
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UNCLASSIF IED 

#174 - OMB's concurrence on USAGM's SFFAS 47 position 
#175 - OMB's Analysis on Reappropriation of Funds 

The OIG audit team and the external auditors are happy to meet with you or your staff to discuss 
the aud it requ irements and answer an uestions. Please contact Director Beverly J .C. O'Nei l l, 
F inancial Management Division, at (b)(G) or Norman P. Brown, Assistant 
Inspector General for Aud its, at (b)(6) to arrange a mutually convenient 
date and time. 

Sincerely, 

Ambassador Matthew S. Klimow 
Acting Inspector General 
Office of Inspector General, U.S. Department of State 

cc: Kelly E. Gorrell, Kearney & Company, P.C. 
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U.S. AGENCY FOR 

GLOBAL MEDIA 

330 Independence Avenue SW I Washington, DC 20237 I usagm.gov 

Ms. Diana Shaw 
Acting Inspector General 
Office of the Inspector General 
U.S. Department of State 

Dear Ms. Shaw: 

March 22, 202 1 

Thank you for the opportunity to provide the U .S. Agency for Global Media' s  (USAGM) 
input to the Office of Inspector General's (OIG) Work Plan for Fiscal Years (FY) 2022-
2023.  After reviewing your memo dated March 4, 202 1 ,  and consulting with my senior 
staff, we have identified the following areas of USA GM operations that could benefit 
from an OIG inspection or audit. Please note that the second and third suggestions below 
are the same as in the letter that USAGM sent to the OIG last year regarding the FY 
202 1 -2022 Work Plan: 

• Internet Freedom Funding. USAGM oversees a substantial investment of 
funding aimed at providing our audiences unfettered access to the internet. We do 
this in part by incubating open source firewall circumvention and privacy tools 
which are used by our audiences, reporters/sources, and other stakeholders 
worldwide. During the tenure of USAGM's prior CEO, Michael Pack, over $3M 
in internet freedom funding was moved without the lawfully required notice to 
Congress and without regard to the agency' s financial internal controls. OIG 
assistance in documenting and tracking the series of events surrounding this 
i l legal transfer of funds would assist USA GM in building more resi lient processes 
and safeguards that ensure taxpayer dollars are always used appropriately. 

• USAGM Infrastructure. USAGM's networks face severe technical and 
production challenges stemming from the agency' s  eighty-plus-year-old 
headquaiters building, which has not been well maintained. The building presents 
numerous challenges, including outdated studios, information technology, and 
production and distribution technology infrastructure. These challenges not only 
present limitations to the networks ' output and collaboration opportunities, but 
also make it more difficult for USAGM to compete globally in a heavily saturated 
international broadcast, digital, and social media environment. USAGM would 
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appreciate the OIG's evaluation of whether USAGM's facilities and infrastructure 
are sufficient to support the agency's crucial mission. 

• Authorities. USAGM is called upon to operate a global media organization in 
line with the highest standards of professional journalism while abiding by federal 
rules governing the acquisition and management of human capital and other 
services. Such rules are in contrast to USAGM's private sector media 
counterparts, who can continually adjust their workforce and structure to fit their 
evolving strategies to maintain and expand their audience, or to ramp up in the 
event of a crisis. It is also in contrast to adversaries like RT, Sputnik, CCTV, etc ., 
who have no such restrictions in creating the propaganda and messaging that 
USA GM works so hard to debunk with truthful, honest, and accurate journalism. 
Our agency would welcome an independent review of whether it has sufficient 
authorities to hire and manage its workforce; utilize current year ftmds to budget 
across fiscal years; and otherwise obtain, maintain, or upgrade the technologies, 
goods, services, and facilities that are required to operate a global 24/7 media 
organization. 

In your memo, you mentioned that you are available to discuss USAGM's suggestions. I 
would appreciate an opportunity to discuss with you :  ( 1 )  the suggested projects 
mentioned above; (2) how OIG's review of these topics would help USA GM address 
some of its most significant challenges; and (3) how these topics might fit with OIG' s 
strategic goals. 

If you have any questions about this letter, please do not hesitate to contact me directly. 
In addition, your staff is always welcome to contact Oanh Tran, Executive Director, at 

l(b)(6) � or Daniel Rosenholtz, OIG Liaison, at fb)(6) I 

Sincerely, 

Kelu Chao 
Acting Chief Executive Officer 
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